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Message from the Board Chair to the Minister Responsible
June 25, 2012
The Honorable Pat Bell
Minister of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation
Province of British Columbia

Dear Minister:
I am pleased to submit Forestry Innovation Investment’s Service Plan Annual Report 2011/12.
In 2011, the B.C. forest sector produced over $11 billion in manufactured products, making the forest industry one
of the key drivers of the provincial economy. During 2011/12, FII was pleased to collaborate with industry and the
federal government to help increase sales of our forest products at home and abroad and to grow jobs in many
regions of the Province.
FII’s performance measures for the past year continued to be heavily oriented to lumber sales in Asia and in the
North American non-residential construction sector. I am pleased to advise that FII’s targets were met in most
locations, and most importantly, were greatly exceeded in China. On a global basis, B.C. firms exported 22.7 million
cubic metres of lumber in 2011, nine percent more than the 20.8 million cubic metres exported in 2010.
Lumber sales to the United States were down by nine percent, reflecting the continuing depressed rate of home
construction as the U.S. continues to work down its huge surplus of new houses and those on the re-sale market.
Most observers feel it will take two or three more years before housing construction and demand for B.C. wood
products return to their historical levels.
In contrast, lumber sales to China were up by 60 percent in 2011, following a 76 percent increase the year before.
FII is confident that demand in China will continue to rise, although not as steeply as over the past three years. B.C.
firms anticipate an increase in sales to China of about 20 percent in 2012, noting that each annual increase is on a
much larger base than the year before. As in previous years, the increasing flow of lumber to China is credited not
only with expanding our industry’s customer base, but also with keeping the price for lumber much higher than it
otherwise would be, world-wide.
In 2011, lumber sales to Japan were virtually the same as in 2010, while sales to South Korea were up by 28 percent
on a relatively small base. Exports to Europe and the Middle East were essentially unchanged year-over-year. Sales
to India were five times what they were in 2010, although the volume still remains small. This increase follows on
a successful effort in 2010 to eliminate certain phytosanitary constraints to the import of Canadian spruce-pine- fir
(SPF) lumber.
China remains FII’s most prominent focus, but in late 2011 FII began the process of down-sizing its subsidiary in
China. In 2012/13 we expect FII China’s staffing to total twelve people, down from nineteen last year. Of those
twelve, four will be seconded to work for Canada Wood Group in Beijing. FII China’s budget will be reduced from
$2.9 million to $1.8 million.
This downsizing reflects a general consensus that we have largely completed the “proof of concept” phase in
introducing wood frame building technology in China. The past year saw a dramatic increase in commercial interest
from large developers, buttressed by significant changes in building and fire codes to accommodate wood-frame
construction. In 2011 we completed the last of the Wenchuan Earthquake reconstruction projects, and by mid-2012
we will have completed all major commercial demonstration projects. In coming years the emphasis in China will
shift to the B.C. trade associations providing Chinese parties with assistance in wood frame design and construction.
In reflecting FII’s mandate to lead the search for new opportunities, FII has begun the process of establishing a
subsidiary company in India, where we believe our coastal species can begin to out-compete tropical hardwoods
for appearance-grade applications such as interior millwork, mouldings, doors and windows. With an initial
complement of four people, “FII India” staff will be co-located in Mumbai with the B.C. trade and investment
representatives working directly for the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation.
In Japan, the disastrous tsunami in March 2011 caused widespread destruction, and rebuilding is anticipated to
begin in earnest in late 2012. As a manifestation of British Columbia’s longstanding cultural and economic ties to
Japan, FII is pleased to manage the Province’s $2 million grant towards reconstruction. Canada Wood Group will
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use that funding, along with $2 million from the Government of Canada and $500,000 from the B.C. forest industry,
to deliver legacy projects to meet public needs in the impacted region. An agreement to construct the first of the
reconstruction projects, a public market in Natori Japan, was concluded during Premier Christy Clark’s recent visit to
the earthquake zone.
In relation to market acceptance, no significant forest management issues arose during the year, as customers
around the world continue to believe that B.C.’s forest practices are better than average. FII continues to
collaborate with other organizations to make architects, specifiers, developers and builders aware of the
environmental merits of our forest products, especially as documented by the emerging science of Life Cycle
Assessment for building systems.
Closer to home, in 2011/12 FII assumed responsibility for the Province’s Wood First initiative, and created a unique
advisory committee that, for the first time, draws architects, structural engineers, real estate developers and
municipal building code experts into FII’s programming. Late in the fiscal year the committee achieved a major
milestone in producing a well-considered suite of recommended activities and budget allocations by which the
Wood First Program will make B.C. a world-class centre of excellence in manufacturing and using innovative wood
products, especially in non-residential construction.
In 2011/12, FII received $20.5 million in funding from the Province. Through the annual Call for Proposals process,
$8.4 million was committed to eleven trade associations, FPInnovations, and the University of BC. Of this amount,
the funding recipients ended the year spending $7.7 million. In addition, FII made grants of $2.6 million in response
to various requests through the year, including the $2 million mentioned above for reconstruction in Japan.
As documented in the body of this report, FII substantially achieved the performance targets set in the most recent
Service Plan.

Risk and Capacity
The most important factors influencing marketing success are beyond FII’s control. Demand for B.C. forest products
is driven by the level of economic activity in other countries, especially residential construction and renovation in the
United States. Furthermore, the international competitiveness of B.C. firms is directly tied to the strength of foreign
currencies. FII’s objective is to positively influence demand for B.C. products within whatever circumstances may
prevail at any given time.
For program delivery, FII relies on the willingness and ability of trade associations to propose, deliver, and share the
cost of a host of product and market development activities. They in turn rely on funding not only from FII and their
member companies, but also from the Government of Canada. I am pleased to confirm that the latter has recently
committed to at least two more years of financial support for the forest industry’s marketing programs.
The 2011/12 Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. Annual Service Plan Report was prepared under the Board’s
direction in accordance with the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act and the B.C. Reporting Principles. The
Board is accountable for the contents of the report, including what has been included in the report and how it has
been reported.
The information reflects the actual performance of FII for the twelve months ended March 31, 2012 in relation to the
Service Plan dated January 2011. The measures presented are consistent with FII’s mandate, goals and objectives
for 2011/12, and focus on aspects critical to the organization’s performance.
The Board is responsible for ensuring internal controls are in place to ensure performance information is measured
accurately and in a timely fashion.
All significant assumptions, decisions, events and identified risks, as of March 31, 2012 have been considered in
preparing this report. The report contains estimates and interpretive information that represent the best judgment
of management. Any changes in mandate direction, goals, objectives, strategies, measures or targets made since
the January 2011 Service Plan was released and any significant limitations in the reliability of the data are identified
in the report.

Dana Hayden
BOARD CHAIR
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Organizational Overview
Forests cover nearly 60 percent of British Columbia’s landscape. For more than 100 years the timber in these forests has
sustained hundreds of communities and tens of thousands of jobs across the province. Even with the recent slowdown in
the global economy, particularly in U.S. housing, the B.C. forest sector shipped over $11 billion in manufactured products
in 2011 and remains one of the world’s largest exporters of softwood lumber. The scale and reach of forestry continues to
make it vital to the province’s social and economic well being, and reinforces the importance of continued development and
diversification of markets by government and industry.
Reflecting the importance of forestry to B.C., the Provincial Government established Forestry Innovation Investment (FII) as
the B.C. government agency responsible for maintaining and expanding markets for the province’s forest products. FII is
tasked with enhancing the value of B.C.’s forest resource and strengthening employment by delivering programming that
responds to two fundamental questions: “Why use wood?” and “Why buy wood from B.C.?”

Enabling Legislation and Mandate
Forestry Innovation Investment was incorporated in 2003 under the Business Corporations Act. FII’s mandate is specified
in its annual Government’s Letter of Expectations, documented later in this report, which outlines the respective roles and
responsibilities of FII and its sole shareholder, the Province of British Columbia. The current version of the Letter instructs FII to:
•

position British Columbia as a global supplier of world-class, environmentally friendly forest products;

•

actively maintain, create and diversify demand for B.C. forest products in Canada and in key world markets;

•

help break down non-tariff trade and market barriers to ensure opportunities for B.C. forest products;

•

work with the forest industry to promote B.C.’s forest products and forest management to the global marketplace; and

•

help ensure that the forest sector, through product development and strong international sales, continues to be a leading
contributor to the B.C. economy.

Minister of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation, Pat Bell, attends completion ceremonies for
the Beichuan Maple Leaf Elderly Care Centre, Beichuan County, Sichuan Province, China,
November 2011.
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When FII was
created, less than
one-sixth of B.C.’s
forest product
exports were sent
to markets outside
of North America.
Today, more than
one-third of exports
are shipped overseas.
In particular, sales
to China have
increased more
than 1,500 per cent
since a joint China
market development
program was set
up by FII and the
industry, with federal
government support,
in 2003.

Vision, Mission and Values
VISION

FII incorporated

2003

Forestry Innovation Investment is an
effective catalyst in positioning British
Columbia as the leading global supplier
of environmentally superior products
from sustainably managed forests.

MISSION

Business Innovation Program introduced to
support marketing and product innovation in
value-added sector

2008

$8 million Canada-B.C. Wenchuan Earthquake
Reconstruction Project offers humanitarian
support to China and raises profile of woodframe construction

2009

FII responds to growing consumer interest by
promoting “green” benefits of B.C.
wood products

2010

FII uses Olympic venues to showcase wood use
and launch marketing program targeting nonresidential sector across North America

2011

FII assumes management of Wood First Initiative
to create a “culture of wood” in B.C.

2012

INVESTMENTS BASED ON
KNOWLEDGE AND EXCELLENCE –
FII strives for transparent decisionmaking and investment processes based
on research.

Mountain Pine Beetle Program introduced to
support industry response to outbreak, including
market development, product research, and
manufacturing innovation

2007

INTEGRITY AND CREDIBILITY – 		
Projects and services are delivered by
capable, motivated individuals who focus
on ensuring FII programs are credible
and useful.

Completion of Dream Home Canada office
building in Shanghai, China, reflects priority
being placed on China market development

2006

INNOVATION – FII encourages
innovative programs and responses to
changing circumstances. FII staff learns
from the past and continuously improve
the effectiveness and efficiency of FII
programs by consulting widely and
optimizing the use of resources.

Demonstration wood-frame housing built in
Sumatra (Indonesia) following December 2004
earthquake and tsunami to test logistics and
social parameters of disaster reconstruction

2006

FOCUS ON PARTNERSHIPS – FII works
in partnership with key stakeholders to
develop initiatives and ensure programs
are effectively delivered in a coordinated
manner.

Major focus on hiring permanent staff,
establishing subsidiary company in China, and
building office in Shanghai

2005

VALUES

Market Development Program established to
identify and develop new markets for B.C. forest
products, with an emphasis on Asia-Pacific

2004

FII’s mission is to be an innovative and
collaborative forest marketing agency
that anticipates and meets the needs of
		government, the B.C. forest sector, and
international markets through well 		
balanced investments that maximize
value to British Columbia.

B.C. Market Outreach Network established to
promote B.C.’s sustainable forest practices
and respond to advocacy campaigns targeting
B.C. forestry

FII scales back its subsidiary in China, and
establishes a presence in India to initiate a
market development program
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Core Business Areas
As shown in the following table, FII is organized into business units that reflect the Corporation’s mandate on market
development.

OPERATIONS
MARKET
INITIATIVES

WOOD FIRST

Market
Outreach

•

Research opportunities in new and emerging markets, and initiate early market
exploration activities

•

Support industry trade associations in developing and/or expanding markets and
market segments for B.C. forest products

•

Support industry efforts to mitigate market access and plant health issues

•

On behalf of the forest sector, manage outreach and relationship building in China with
Chinese authorities and central government agencies

•

Champion the Province’s Wood First initiative and encourage expanded wood use in B.C.

•

Encourage the development of a pro-wood culture in B.C., and position B.C. as a
leader in wood innovation

•

Encourage product innovation and the introduction of new wood building systems

•

Encourage a robust value added sector in B.C., through enhanced capacity and
competitiveness

•

Promote the benefits of wood as a green building material

•

Develop factual and science based materials to position wood’s environmental benefits
and climate change mitigation potential

•

Promote B.C. as a world leading supplier of forest products

•

Ensure markets are aware of B.C.’s sustainable forest practices and high environmental
standards

CORPORATE SERVICES
Finance &
Administration

Corporate
Relations

•

Ensure financial reporting to government standards

•

Provide Human Resource, IT and office services to meet organizational needs

•

Oversee budget and planning controls

•

Compile and share export data and analysis on market trends

•

Support Government and industry trade and investment initiatives

•

Provide corporate communication and analytical services to meet internal and
external needs

Three significant changes occurred in 2011/12.
First, in March 2011, the responsibility for FII transferred from the Ministry of Forests, Lands and Mines to the Ministry of Jobs,
Tourism and Innovation. This shift effected a consolidation of the Government’s primary market development and trade
operations under a single authority and has resulted in a substantial increase in collaboration across international market
development programs.
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Second, the management of the Wood First Initiative (WFI) was transferred to FII from the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and
Innovation. FII incorporated its Business Innovation Program in the new Wood First Program, and added a management
position to oversee strategies and activities in support of the value-added sector. A Wood First Advisory Committee was
established to provide strategic direction to FII on the priorities and focus of the program. The committee replaced the
Business Innovation Advisory Committee that provided advice on services offered to the value-added sector. In fiscal
2012/13, FII plans to incorporate all value-added programs within the WFI.
Third, the FII Board of Directors approved a strategic refocusing of activities at the FII subsidiary in China as part of a
rebalancing of efforts by FII China and the industry-led Canada Wood Group operation in China. The changes will lead to a
smaller staff complement at FII China in fiscal 2012/13 as services previously carried out by FII China are transferred to the
Canada Wood Group.
See the Governance section of this report for more details on these changes.

Benefits to British Columbia
Through market development efforts, FII supports a strong and healthy forest industry. This directly supports Canada Starts
Here: The BC Jobs Plan and benefits the families and economy of British Columbia by:
•

working to maintain existing markets for B.C. forest products in collaboration with the forest sector, supporting forestry
jobs throughout B.C.;

•

opening up new markets for B.C. forest products and creating the potential for new jobs to service these markets;

•

building awareness of B.C. internationally, particularly in China and elsewhere in the Asia-Pacific region, including India,
which helps strengthen and grow trade ties; and

•

supporting the growth of a sustainable and green economy by promoting the environmental benefits of wood in
structural and non-structural applications and greater use of renewable wood products from B.C.

Service Delivery
FII combines the direct delivery of programs and services with the funding of program delivery by other agencies, including
trade associations and research institutions. This approach allows FII to leverage its budget and resources to have a much
greater impact than if the Corporation acted on its own.
Programs delivered by partner groups are predominantly selected through a competitive process based on criteria set out
in annual investment strategies. Each project investment includes performance criteria, reporting requirements and budget
controls, is closely monitored by FII staff, and may be audited by an independent auditor selected by FII.
About two-thirds of FII’s budget is used to fund, in whole or in part, initiatives that are designed and delivered by other
organizations. In 2011/12, these activities were co-funded by FII, Natural Resources Canada through its Canada Wood Export
and North America Wood First Programs, and industry.
FII manages a number of marketing initiatives that reflect government priorities and provide broad-based benefits to the
forest sector, but typically fall outside the mandates of industry associations and other government agencies. They include:
•

market research to unearth potential opportunities and create new demand in emerging markets and segments;

•

marketing resources for general use by industry, such as publications on wood as a green building material, and the
www.naturallywood.com web site;

•

market outreach communication to explain B.C.’s forest practices and environmental record to international markets;

•

market research and outreach to government agencies in China, where FII represents the interests of the forest sector in
interactions with Chinese authorities and state controlled enterprises.

Service Plan Annual Report 2011 | 2012 June 2012
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Principal Partners, Clients and Stakeholders
FII works with the following partners in developing and diversifying markets for B.C. forest products.

ORGANIZATION

RELATIONSHIP

GOVERNMENT
Government of British Columbia

Sole shareholder, provides FII’s core funding

Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation

Ministry responsible for FII

Ministry of Forests, Lands and
Natural Resources Operation

Responsible for forest practice regulations and
forest management

Department of Natural Resources,
Government of Canada

Federal funding agency for international marketing
through the Canada Wood Export Program (CWEP) and
North America Wood First Initiative

Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade,
Government of Canada

Federal agency supporting in-market trade and
investment promotion

Government of Alberta

Funding contributor to the China and Japan market
development programs

ORGANIZATION

RELATIONSHIP

NON-GOVERNMENT
B.C. forest industry associations and organizations:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

APA – The Engineered Wood Association
B.C. Forestry Climate Change Working Group
B.C Shake & Shingle Association
B.C. Wood Specialties Group
Bi-national Softwood Lumber Council
Canada Wood Group
Canadian Wood Council
Canadian Wood Council – WoodWORKS! BC
Cedar Shake and Shingle Bureau
CertiWood
Coast Forest Products Association
Council of Forest Industries
Forest Products Association of Canada
Sustainable Building Coalition
Western Red Cedar Export Association
Western Red Cedar Lumber Association
Wood Enterprise Coalition
Wood Pellet Association of Canada
Wood Products Council

Post-secondary and research institutions:
FPInnovations
University of British Columbia
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Funding recipients that initiate and deliver domestic and
international market development programs and that may
also receive funding from Natural Resources Canada and/
or other partner organizations

Partners and/or funding recipients that initiate and deliver
product development and technical research, and assist
B.C. value-added firms to improve product design and
manufacturing

In Asia, Canada Wood Group (a partnership of trade associations) leads market development activities in China, Japan and
Korea, with funding provided by FII, Natural Resources Canada, the Government of Alberta (China and Japan program only) and
industry associations. Activities involve building relationships with government officials, developers and the building sector, and
research institutions on topics related to market access (for instance, acceptability of B.C. species and grades in local building
and fire codes), market development (marketing and promotion) and related issues.
In China, Japan and Korea, FII provides core program support to Canada Wood Group in delivering market research,
marketing, demonstration projects, quality assurance and training. Key relationships are maintained with major wood users,
the architectural faculties of several universities, developers and builders.
In the United States, trade associations including the Wood Products Council, Western Red Cedar Lumber Association, and B.C.
Wood Specialties Group lead market development activities funded by FII and industry. Activities focus on niche markets in the
residential construction and related sectors as well as the emerging market for wood in the non-residential sector.
In other markets, trade associations lead market development activities funded by FII, Natural Resources Canada and
industry. Activities focus on market development and market access.

Location of Operations
The FII corporate office is located at:
•

#1200 - 1130 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia.

The company’s China subsidiary, FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co, Ltd. office is located at:
•

425 Hong Feng Road, Jinqiao, Pudong New Area, Shanghai, P.R. China 201206

FII Consulting (Shanghai) also operates a small satellite office in Beijing located at:
•

Room 1507, Kuntai International Mansion, No.12 B Chaowai Street, Beijing 100020.

More information on FII is available at www.bcfii.ca. General information on B.C.’s high-quality forest products and sustainably
managed forests is available at www.naturallywood.com.
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Corporate Governance
Board of Directors
FII is responsible to the Minister of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation through a three-member Board of Directors. The
Government appoints the Board to set operational policy for the organization and, in cooperation with senior management,
to set strategic direction. The Board also monitors FII’s performance based on the Province’s planning and reporting
principles. The Board appoints the Chief Executive Office and delegates responsibility to the CEO for the day-to-day
leadership and management of the organization.
The members of the Board of Directors are:
•

Dana Hayden, Deputy Minister of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation (Chair);

•

Lori Wanamaker, Deputy Minister, Ministry of Justice; and

•

Dave Peterson, Chief Forester, Assistant Deputy Minister, Tenures, Competitiveness and Innovation Division, Ministry of
Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations.

The FII Board has an Audit Committee, which is responsible for reviewing, recommending, and in some instances, approving
financial statements and other information. The Audit Committee has three positions. Two are filled by Lori Wanamaker and
John Desjardins, Partner, KPMG. One position is currently vacant.
Reflecting the growing importance of China as an export market, and the large share of the FII budget directed towards
activities in China, in 2010/11 the Board established a subsidiary Board of Directors for FII China operations. The FII China
Board was responsible for overseeing the budget, business direction, and management of FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
(the legal name of the entity in China).
By 2011/12, the China market development program had reached a transition point. With the need for development work
in China shifting from demonstration initiatives (lead by FII China) to greater technical support for Chinese builders and
developers (delivered by industry through the Canada Wood Group), agreement was reached with industry to consolidate the
market development efforts in China under Canada Wood Group.
As a result, in late 2011, the FII China Board was dissolved1 and authority for FII China reverted to the FII CEO, who
concurrently serves as Executive Director for the subsidiary2. The 2012/13 fiscal year will be a transition period during which
FII China will re-focus its scope and programming away from direct market development work to concentrate on providing
government-to-government liaison in support of the forest industry trade associations.

Governance Principles and Practices
The Board of Directors operates according to six guiding principles related to:
•

stewardship, leadership and effective functioning of the Board;

•

clarity of roles and responsibilities;

•

openness, trust and transparency;

•

service and corporate citizenship;

•

accountability and performance; and

•

value, innovation and continuous improvement.

Details about how the guiding principles are applied are posted on FII’s website at: http://www.bcfii.ca/aboutus/corporate/
corporate-governance.

1

The subsidiary Board remained in an acting capacity throughout its tenure as Chinese regulatory approval of the Board had not been received prior to the 		

Board’s dissolution.
2
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The Board incorporates best practices into its governance procedures as guided by the Best Practices Guidelines on
Governance and Disclosure for Public Sector Organizations.
As recommended in the guidelines, FII’s disclosure, including its Status of Concurrence with Best Practices Guidelines is
available on the company’s website at http://www.bcfii.ca/wp-content/uploads/aboutus/corporate/corporate-governance/
Status-of-Concurrence-with-Best-Practices-Guidelines.pdf. As detailed in the Status of Concurrence report, FII is substantially
in accordance with governance best practices set out by the Province’s Crown Agency Resources Office.

Industry Advisory Committees
Four committees of senior forest industry representatives provide continuing advice to FII:
•

the Industry Strategy Committee offers strategic direction on FII’s Market Initiatives programming, investments and
related strategies;

•

the Market Acceptance Advisory Group offers strategic direction on FII’s Market Outreach programming;

•

the Wood First Advisory Committee offers strategic direction on the Wood First program and related priorities for
investment3 ; and

•

a Proposal Evaluation Panel evaluates funding proposals received through FII’s annual call for proposals process.

FII Executive Management
•

Ken Baker, CEO

•

Doug Greig, Vice President, Finance and Administration

•

Michael Loseth, Vice President, Operations

Subsidiary Company
COMPANY: FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. (wholly owned by Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.)
PRIMARY BUSINESS: Supporting the B.C. forest industry by providing market research, technical wood frame building
expertise and related intermediation with Chinese government authorities on behalf of industry.
OBJECTIVE: Work with the B.C. forest industry and the federal government to grow the market for B.C. wood products in
China, primarily by creating new demand for structural lumber and related building products.
GOVERNANCE: Sole Executive Director (FII CEO Ken Baker), reporting to the FII Board of Directors.
FINANCIAL INFORMATION: See the Financial Report.

3

The Wood First Advisory Committee was established following the transfer of the Wood First Initiative (WFI) to FII from the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and 		

Innovation. The committee provides strategic advice to the initiative, including the development of the annual investment strategy that guides WFI investments.
The committee has also replaced the Business Innovation Advisory Committee that provided advice to FII on services offered to the value-added sector. In fiscal
2012/13, FII plans to incorporate all value-added programs within the WFI.
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Goals, Key Strategies, Measures and Targets
GOAL 1
STRATEGIES

PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Develop opportunities in new and existing markets by:

•

Softwood lumber exports to priority Asia Pacific
markets

•

Incremental sales generated in targeted U.S.
non-residential construction markets

•

Incremental sales generated in the B.C.
non-residential construction market

•

Supporting trade association market development
programs based on the priorities outlined in the annual
Investment Strategy

•

Operating a subsidiary in China focused on
government liaison, market research and
demonstration projects in support of industry market
development efforts

•

Making B.C. a leader in wood use and innovation by
supporting the government’s Wood First initiative

•

Positioning B.C. wood products as preferred building
materials and wood as a green building material

GOAL 2

INTERNATIONAL RECOGNITION OF B.C. AS THE LEADING SUPPLIER OF
ENVIRONMENTALLY SUPERIOR FOREST PRODUCTS

STRATEGIES

PERFORMANCE MEASURES

•

Advocate for continued international market access in
relation to forestry and environmental factors

•

•

Champion science-based approaches to documenting
the environmental merits of B.C. forest products

•

Position B.C. as a world leader in sustainable forest
management and forest product manufacturing

GOAL 3

11

EXPANDED MARKET OPPORTUNITIES, EMPHASIZING A DRAMATIC INCREASE IN FOREST
PRODUCT EXPORTS TO CHINA AND THE REST OF ASIA

Percent of customers who feel that choosing
products from B.C. (Canada) is a good choice for
the environment

FII IS A HIGHLY EFFECTIVE, INNOVATIVE AND RESPONSIVE ORGANIZATION

STRATEGIES

PERFORMANCE MEASURES

•

Ensure FII is efficient, transparent and results focused

•

•

Ensure the integrity and timeliness of funding to other
organizations for activities that will enhance the forest
sector’s economic and social benefits to British Columbia

•

Minimize the organization’s carbon footprint and
promote environmentally responsible business activities

Forestry Innovation Investment

Timeliness of annual funding cycle for trade
associations, research institutes and universities

Performance Management Reporting
The performance measures outlined in this Report on Performance are specific to the work of FII. This section does not
include performance measures that apply to organizations funded by FII. Those external performance measures are captured
in FII’s Performance Management Framework http://www.bcfii.ca/aboutus/corporate/corporate-governance/. The framework
includes measures used for managing funding to other organizations (in concert with Natural Resources Canada’s funding
administration) and for application to all of FII’s internally directed projects.

Benchmarking
FII has made significant efforts to benchmark its performance to other organizations, including commissioning an assessment
in 2009/10 to determine whether FII’s performance could be meaningfully benchmarked in such a way. The consultant
examined nine organizations in the forest sector and in other sectors and concluded that most were sufficiently different from
FII as to offer no useful comparability. However, it was noted that two organizations (Natural Resources Canada and Tourism
B.C.) did utilize some performance measures that could be applicable to the FII operation. FII has subsequently employed
a number of internal performance measures that are similar to those organizations, and many others are incorporated the
corporation’s overall Performance Management Framework.

Organizational Capacity
FII had the organizational capacity, skills and budget necessary to achieve its performance targets in 2011/12. As noted in
the section “Core Business Areas”, a management position was added in 2011 to direct the Wood First Initiative, research
activities, and programs in support of the value-added sector.

Environmental Systems Science Building, University of British Columbia
Perkins + Will Architects Canada Co.
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GOAL 1

EXPANDED MARKET OPPORTUNITIES, EMPHASIZING A DRAMATIC INCREASE IN FOREST
PRODUCT EXPORTS TO CHINA AND THE REST OF ASIA

Strengthening demand for B.C. forest products across a range of markets and end-use applications is FII’s central mandate.
Because B.C. is one of the world’s largest exporters of softwood lumber, efforts related to Goal 1 require a broad reach in
terms of foreign markets. This includes targeting fast growing markets, such as China, protecting market share in mature
markets, such as Japan, and fostering demand in low volume markets with growth potential, such as the multi-family and
non-residential market in Korea and the domestically focused re-manufacturing sector in India.
New uses and perceptions of wood products within existing geographic markets also offer growth opportunities. Goal 1
focuses on taking advantage of these opportunities by raising the profile of wood use in the non-residential section in the
U.S., promoting the “green” benefits of wood products to consumers and builders, and encouraging the growth of a “Wood
First” culture in British Columbia.
Strategies under this goal include a mix of activities delivered by third parties and by FII. FII partners with industry trade
associations, the federal government and other funding bodies to leverage its investments for the greatest potential return
for B.C. Working with its partners, FII’s objective is to strengthen demand for B.C. forest products, expand potential end-use
applications and build on the growing awareness of the benefits of wood products. Strategies related to generating greater
value-added from the forest sector are delivered primarily through FII’s Wood First Initiative4.
To put the strategies and performance measures into context, the following section highlights trends in B.C.’s key
international markets in 2011/12.

Market Trends in 2011/12
In 2011 B.C. forest product exports continued to recover from the global financial crisis and the downturn in the U.S. housing
market. B.C. exported 22.8 million m³ of softwood lumber in 2011, up 9% from 20.9 million m³ in 2010. For the first time
offshore exports surpassed the volume of lumber shipped to the U.S. The volume of lumber exported to the U.S. declined
by almost 9% to 11.2 million m³, while exports to other markets increased by 35% to 11.6 million m³. Much of this growth in
lumber exports went to China. China accounted for 32% of B.C.’s total lumber export volume in 2011 compared to 49% for
the U.S. market.
The U.S. housing market continued its gradual recovery in 2011. Housing starts were 609,000 in 2011 compared to 587,000
in 2010. The inventory of existing homes is down and the number of home foreclosures declined in 2011, but there is
a substantial shadow inventory of homes owned by financial institutions and homes likely to enter foreclosure in 2012.
The recovery in new home construction will remain slow until the oversupply in existing homes is absorbed.
China’s growing demand for wood products benefited all exporters of logs, lumber and panels in 2011. The volume of
lumber exported from B.C. to China rose 62% from the previous year to 7.2 million m³. Led by B.C. exports, Canada was
again China’s largest softwood lumber supplier in 2011, followed by Russia and the U.S.
In Japan there was relatively little reconstruction in the areas destroyed by the March 2011 tsunami, but lumber demand is
expected to increase in the next two to three years. B.C. exports of softwood lumber were almost 2.5 million m³, up 0.2%
compared to the previous year. Oriented strand board (OSB) and plywood were in high demand due to heavy losses of
capacity in the Japanese panel sector following the tsunami. Softwood plywood shortages and high plywood prices in the
second quarter of 2011 contributed to Japan’s record OSB imports of 300,000 m³ in 2011. B.C. exported 211,000 m³ of OSB
to Japan in 2011.

4

The need for a Wood First program was first recognized by the Working Roundtable on Forestry in 2008. A year later the Province announced the Wood First Initiative

and followed this in 2009 with the Wood First Act to take a leadership position in utilizing more wood in provincially funded buildings. The Act directly supports the
Wood First initiative, and further leverages products, technologies and services into the municipal and private sectors.
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Exports of structural lumber to Korea were up 28% over 2010 driven by growing demand in the wood housing sector as well
as the demand for SPF lumber to supply Korea’s growing treated wood sector.
The following chart and tables document trends in B.C.’s share of the market in key regions over the past decade, and highlight
FII and overall industry performance relative to the goals and objectives contained in the 2011/12 Service Plan.

5

Based on sales of five softwood products (lumber, plywood, OSB, particleboard and MDF) and B.C.’s share of total domestic consumption in each market.

6

The size of the circles is proportional to the total size of each market for the five softwood product lines. Note: China consumption data includes hardwood plywood.

Service Plan Annual Report 2011 | 2012 June 2012

14

15

Forestry Innovation Investment

A summary of B.C. exports, import shares and consumption shares, as well as the latest monthly sales reports and historical
data on exports are available at: www.bcfii.ca/industry_resources/market_research.htm.

6

Due to a change in data sourcing methodology, B.C. market share in the EU is only available from 2005.
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Strategies
Strategies to achieve Goal 1 in 2011/12 included:
•

Supporting trade association market development programs based on the priorities outlined in the annual Investment
Strategy;

•

Operating a subsidiary in China focused on government liaison, market research and demonstration projects in support
of industry market development efforts;

•

Making B.C. a leader in wood use and innovation by supporting the government’s Wood First initiative; and

•

Positioning B.C. wood products as preferred building materials and wood as a green building material.

Underpinning FII’s approach to achieving Goal 1 objectives is the provision of core funding for marketing programs initiated and
delivered by industry trade associations. Each year, roughly half of FII’s budget is directed towards these activities. With the
exception of China, the majority of spending in foreign markets is through trade association activities. Reflecting the objective
to maintain, develop and diversify market demand, funding is spread across major and new markets as illustrated below:

7

“Funding Recipient Initiatives” refers to funding provided to industry associations and other groups to carry out market development activities that they

propose. “Recipient Funding” also includes funding for the Business Innovation Partnership. Amounts include associated program administration.
“FII Vancouver Market Initiatives” refers to funding for product and market development activities managed directly by FII, including market research, market
outreach and demonstration projects.
“FII China Market Initiatives” refers to activities directly managed by FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
“China: Other Funding” refers to funding provided by the B.C. Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation, the federal government (Natural Resources Canada) and
other agencies.
“Corporate Services” refers to FII’s accounting and general office functions that support all program delivery.
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Select Highlights from 2011/12

Completion of the Canada – B.C. Wenchuan Earthquake Reconstruction Project
The official openings of the Beichuan Elderly Care Centre and the Huayan Elementary School near Chengdu marked
the completion of the $8 million Canada-B.C. Earthquake Reconstruction Project. Over the course of the project,
FII managed the construction of two primary schools, an elderly care centre, a school for the disabled and other
structures. Together, these reconstruction projects helped demonstrate the viability of the wood frame construction
method in China while supporting reconstruction of the region of China devastated by an earthquake in May 2008.

“The reconstruction
of these buildings
means hundreds
of school children
and seniors are now
housed in proper
facilities. This is a
humanitarian benefit
that has received
national recognition
across China.”

Minister of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation, Pat Bell (left), attends the official opening of the final
Wenchuan Reconstruction Projects, November, 2011.

The value of British Columbia’s softwood lumber
exports to China jumped 60 per cent in 2011,
surpassing the $1-billion mark for the first time. Since
2003, lumber exports to China have risen by more
than 1,500 per cent. Shipments totalled 7.3 million m3
in 2011, surpassing the 2011 target of 6.3 million m3.

In 2011/12 the Wood First Initiative commissioned a
study into the feasibility of constructing taller buildings
from wood. The study concluded that taller building
– in excess of 20 storeys – is technically feasible.
The Report received extensive media coverage
internationally.

The US WoodWorks program continued to expand
its reach and impact in the US non-residential sector
in 2011/12. New outreach was undertaken in high
priority markets (Texas, Portland and Seattle) for the
first time and recorded record participation from the
design community. The non-residential program
generated sales of 500 million board feet of lumber,
well in excess of the target of 375 million board feet.

The market development program for value added
products was very successful in Korea in 2011/12 with
record response to the tradeshow promotion at the 2011
Seoul Living and Design Fair. In addition, after several
years of effort the Canada Wood Team successfully
obtained accreditation for wood frame wall assemblies,
surpassing the rigorous fire and sound insulation
requirements for multi-unit buildings in the Korean
building code. Four new multi-unit developments are
now going ahead because of this achievement.
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Other Accomplishments in 2011/12
In the United States, tradeshow promotional activity undertaken by BC Wood Specialties Group and the Western Red Cedar
Lumber Association in the United States created significant new opportunities for B.C. producers to bid on projects in Hawaii,
Texas, Colorado and Arizona. Project bidding opportunities were over $2.75 million through the tradeshow activity.
In South Korea, universities are now offering wood frame construction training and accredited courses based on Canada
Wood Korea curricula and promotions. Four universities have already established courses, five more will institute programs
in 2012/13 and seven more universities are considering establishing courses. In addition, Canada Wood Korea trained 2,050
builders/architects/engineers in conjunction with local wood associations and universities.
In Europe, 2011/12 was the first year in which FII actively supported the wood biomass (pellet) industry to expand markets in
Europe. Through the Wood Pellet Association of Canada (WPAC), Canada was represented on the European Pellet Council
which enabled the B.C. industry to secure ENPlus Licence export rights. Without the licence, B.C. companies would not be
able to export pellets to Europe. The program generated significant new demand from the U.K. and central European buyers
who visited pellet plants in B.C.
In British Columbia,
•

Forty-two local governments across B.C. have now passed or endorsed Wood First resolutions.

•

Three demonstrations projects using innovative wood technology – in Elkford, North Vancouver and Squamish – were
under construction in 2011/12 for completion in the Spring of 2013.

•

Flowing from recent changes to the B.C. Building Code to allow taller wood frame structures, eight 6-storey wood-frame
buildings were completed in 2011/12 with another 15 under construction and 102 in various stages of planning and approval.

•

A series of building code research projects were funded by FII for the Building and Safety Standards Branch with the
potential to expand applications for wood in code classes B3 (assisted living facilities), and D (commercial occupancies).

Canada Tohoku Reconstruction Project
On March 11, 2011, a 9.0-magnitude earthquake occurred off Japan’s northeast coast in the area of Sendai. The
event generated a tsunami, which combined with damage from earth movements, resulted in mass fatalities,
casualties and catastrophic loss of critical infrastructure.
In response to the tragedy, the Province of B.C. ($2 million) and the Government of Canada ($2 million)
joined with the forest sector ($0.5 million) in announcing $4.5 million in contributions to the Canada-Tohoku
Reconstruction Project.
Canada Wood Japan, acting on behalf of the funding partners, issued a request for proposals in March 2012 to
identify candidate projects that best combine humanitarian aid, promotion of Canadian wood products and a legacy
project outcome. A number of good proposals were received and work on the first of the reconstruction projects is
expected to begin in the summer of 2012.

“By working together with industry
partners, Canada and B.C. have been able
to assist our friends in Japan to move
past this tragedy, and the B.C. wood
being used will be a lasting symbol of our
province’s close relationship with Japan.”

Premier Christy Clark comments on the signing of an MOU for the Yuriage Public Market Reconstruction Project in Natori City, Miyagi
Prefecture, Japan, May 14, 2012.

19

Forestry Innovation Investment

PERFORMANCE
MEASURE

2009/10 2010/11
ACTUAL ACTUAL

2011/12
TARGET/
ACTUAL

TARGET
2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

A B.C. softwood lumber exports

to priority Asia Pacific markets
(thousands of cubic metres),
consisting of:8

4,725

7,159

8,886/9,930
(Exceeded)

11,725

13,662

15,900

China

2,589

4,562

6,300/7,31511
(Exceeded)

8,900

10,700

12,800

Japan9

1,986

2,448

2,400/2,451
(Exceeded)

2,650

2,775

2,900

South Korea10

150

153

186/164
(Not achieved)

175

187

200

B

Incremental sales generated
in U.S. non-residential market
(millions of board feet)

180

298

370/22612
(Not achieved)

400

50013

600

C

Incremental sales generated
in B.C. non-residential market
(millions of board feet)

52

61

62/69
(Exceeded)

75

80

88

Importance of Measures
Performance Measure A tracks the extent to which the B.C. forest industry is shifting its reliance away from the United States
by selling to Asian customers over the longer-term. This is a measure of market diversity and greater overall demand. The
target is heavily weighted to sales in China, where a particularly large share of FII investments are leveraging joint industry
and government (provincial and federal) market development efforts.
Performance Measure B tracks success in introducing wood frame technology to the non-residential construction sector in
the United States as a way of lessening the B.C. industry’s overwhelming reliance on U.S. residential construction. Figures
indicated are incremental wood volumes generated through program activities funded by FII in partnership with the Wood
Products Council. Data reported include the total number of projects influenced to increase sales of wood in the non-residential
market. Some projects reported may be completed during the year or span multiple periods, however the year in which they
commenced construction or were completed is the only year in which they were counted.
Performance Measure C tracks success in increasing wood usage in the B.C. non-residential construction sector, a core
objective of the province’s Wood First strategy. Figures indicated are incremental wood volumes generated through program
activities funded by FII in partnership with the Canadian Wood Council.

8

Performance Measure A is broadly influenced by global economic conditions beyond the control or direct influence of FII or the provincial government (refer to

discussion under “Economic, Industry and Market Factors”); however, export data provide a reliable indicator of overall progress by FII and its funding recipients in
fostering market diversification.
9

It should be noted that many specialty products formerly shipped from B.C. to Japan (e.g., Douglas-fir, cedar, Sitka spruce) are now often exported from B.C. to China,

manufactured into value-added products, and re-exported to Japan. This is increasing B.C. export volumes to China while reducing shipments from B.C. to Japan. The
trend is expected to continue and is factored into export targets.
10

Lumber consumed in structural applications (residential, non-residential and additions).

11

6.3 million m3 was the target set for 2011/12 in the February 2010 FII Service Plan. This converts to approximately 4 billion board feet (volume target for China per the

2011/12 Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations for FII) using a net cubic meter to board foot factor of .628. Actual results equate to 4.59 billion board feet.
12

Figures are only for projects under construction or completed; projects representing an additional 274 million board feet were in the planning stages during 2011/12,

but were not yet started, and so were not included in the 2011/12 figures.
13

The target was increased in the 2012/13 Service Plan to 500 million board feet from 430 million board feet.
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Performance Analysis
The overall target for Performance Measure A was exceeded in 2011/12. The largest gains were in sales of lumber to China
where demand for B.C. wood products was strong throughout most of the year, with the value of sales to China exceeding
those to the U.S. in both May and June, a first for the sector. Total sales of lumber to China passed the $1 billion mark for the
year through December 2011 and volume also set a record at 7.3 million m3, exceeding target by over one million m3. Sales
to Japan were on target for the year, with expectations for renewed growth in 2012/13. Exports of B.C. structural lumber to
South Korea did not meet forecast as continued financial issues in Korea lead to a decrease in the average floor space per
unit of housing construction during the period. Volumes are anticipated to increase going forward as wood frame housing
continues to gain market share.
The target for Performance Measure B was not met in 2011/12. A number of factors unfavourably impacted the actual
incremental sales for the US Non-Residential market. First, the US market has seen longer and deeper recessionary effects
than originally forecast. Second, lower performance results reflect a reduced overall program budget for the Wood Products
Council that delivers the program (down from $7 to $5 million for the US non-residential program in 2011/12). Third, the
program was negatively impacted by delays in receiving federal and, consequently, other leveraged funding. This meant
that work in the first quarter was delayed which impacted the projected 2011/12 numbers. During the year, the Wood
Products Council board directed the program to focus on new initiatives for schools, franchises and mid-rise construction.
This adjustment in focus is expected to take some time to gain momentum and has contributed to the lower volume figure
achieved in 2011/12, but is reflected in increased volume targets beginning in 2013/14. It should be noted that figures are
only for projects under construction or completed; projects representing an additional 274 million board feet were in the
planning stages during 2011/12, but were not yet started, and so were not included in the 2011/12 figures.
The target for Performance Measure C was exceeded as the market for wood in non-residential applications in B.C. continued
to expand. Momentum generated by the Wood First activities increased the interest in and acceptance of wood in mid-rise
construction in B.C.

Data Source/Report Period
Performance Measure A is based on Statistics Canada export data sourced from BC Stats. Results are consistent with industry
measurement practices.
Performance Measure B figures are based on reports from the Wood Products Council (WPC), which tracks the volume of
wood used in U.S. non-residential construction.
Performance Measure C figures for B.C. are based on data reported by the Canadian Wood Council which tracks the volume
of wood used in Canadian non-residential construction.
FII has completed independent third-party evaluations of both the B.C. and U.S. market development programs (Performance
Measures B and C), and their metrics, and is confident that the data are reliable for performance reporting purposes.

Risk and Capacity Issues
The ability to achieve targets for Performance Measures A, B, and C is influenced by factors beyond the control of FII (see
“Economic, Industry and Market Factors”) and by the performance of the industry market development programs supported
by FII. As part of the funding approval process, performance measures are set for each project. All of these measures are
directly linked to FII’s broader goals and targets. For more details, see FII’s Performance Management Framework at:
http://www.bcfii.ca/about_fii/corporate_reports.htm.
FII had the staff and resources to manage the investment program supporting Goal 1 in 2011/12.
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GOAL 2

INTERNATIONAL RECOGNITION OF B.C. AS THE LEADING SUPPLIER OF
ENVIRONMENTALLY SUPERIOR FOREST PRODUCTS

Customers around the world are increasingly looking for assurance that forest products are environmentally friendly and come
from sustainably managed forests.
The primary objective of Goal 2 is to position B.C. as a global leader in sustaining forest resources and environmental values.
The province’s commitment to sustainable forest management is a significant advantage in world markets. As customers
are increasingly factoring environmental practices into purchasing decisions, there is considerable value in articulating
the benefits of wood as a sustainable, renewable building material; its advantages in creating a significantly smaller
environmental footprint than other building materials; and the fact that wood and pulp and paper products from B.C. are
manufactured by an industry that has made impressive gains in reducing its environmental footprint.
The strategies to achieve Goal 2 in 2011/12 were to:
•

Advocate for continued international market access in relation to forestry and environmental factors;

•

Champion science-based approaches to documenting the environmental merits of B.C. forest products; and

•

Position B.C. as a world leader in sustainable forest management and forest product manufacturing.

Select Highlights from 2011/12
GROWING DEMAND FOR
WOOD – RETHINK WOOD +
THE NORTH AMERICAN WOOD
PRODUCTS INDUSTRY
Led by Forestry Innovation Investment
and the Binational Softwood Lumber
Council (BSLC), the reThink Wood
initiative was launched to project
common messaging as it relates
to wood performance, cost and
sustainability, making it easier for the
industry to speak with a unified voice and
educate people about the advantages
of using wood building systems.
The program will provide key
messages and pro-wood materials
that will be leveraged by all North
American trade organizations,
including those funded by FII, BSLC
and eventually the US Softwood
Lumber Check-Off Program for
softwood lumber research and
promotion. FII is also leveraging
these messages and materials for
use with B.C.’s Wood First Initiative,
and for its investments outside of
North America.

GROWING DEMAND FOR
WOOD – ARCHITECT
CONTINUING EDUCATION

CHAMPIONING B.C. FOREST
PRODUCTS – PAID + EARNED
MEDIA

Each year nearly 27,000 architects
and design professionals take
American Institute of Architectssponsored continuing education
courses from leading publisher,
McGraw-Hill, through their
publications, Architectural Record
and GreenSource. In 2011/12, FII,
with input from U.S. WoodWorks,
Canadian Wood Council and
other stakeholders, sponsored
and coordinated three courses:
“Materials Matter”, “Materials In
Action” and “A Natural Choice”.
Each of the three courses attracted
over 2,300 architects and design
professionals making them among
McGraw-Hill’s most popular course
offerings in 2011. Release of these
continuing education units (CEUs)
followed on the heels of FII’s
Wood Rates: How Wood Products
Stack Up in Green Building
Systems course, one of the top ten
most popular CEU’s in 2010.

In 2011-2012, B.C. Architect’s
Toolkit and naturally:wood
advertisements were placed in
15 magazines and five online
channels focused on architects
and builders, as well as sustainable
design, publishing and related
trade shows. Total circulation for
print and online advertising was
2,168,085, generating over 1,536
unique page views to the FII
website (an increase of 959 clickthroughs from last year). From
these publications, FII received
356 requests for more information
about naturally:wood and the B.C.
Architect’s Toolkit.
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CHAMPIONING B.C. FOREST PRODUCTS - YOUTUBE
In 2011/12 FII launched the naturally:wood YouTube channel as a way to engage with audiences online and to
leverage the range of video resources available.
naturally:wood now has a robust YouTube program. To-date, the YouTube channel has received more than 20,000
views, 74 likes, 53 shares and 54 favourites. Introducing Cross Laminated Timber to North America, Wood in
Transportation and the “Sawdust” video have garnered the most attention.
A growing number of stakeholders are using, leveraging and embedding naturally:wood video materials for their
own marketing and communications purposes.
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PERFORMANCE
MEASURE

2009/10 2010/11
ACTUAL ACTUAL

2011/12
TARGET/
ACTUAL

TARGET
2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

D Percent of customers who feel

that choosing products from
B.C. (Canada) is a good choice
for the environment

n/a

98%

n/a / 98%14

90%

n/a

90%

Importance of Measure
The measure tracks the effectiveness of FII programs at influencing customer views regarding the environmental reputation of
the B.C. forest sector.

Performance Analysis
The target for Performance Measure D was achieved in 2011/12. The results of the latest survey of international customers
show consumer opinion regarding the quality of forest management practices has stabilized and that the reputation of B.C.
can increasingly be used as a competitive advantage for marketing purposes:
•

There is increased importance for all environmental issues, and in the latest survey, two-thirds say that Canada’s
environmental practices and reputation are better than average, with 95% indicating average to better-than-average and
98% rating B.C. as average to better-than-average.

•

There is increased importance for all environmental issues. Overall, rating of Canada’s performance remained fairly
static, with slight decreases in some areas. Rating of Canada’s performance has increased among U.S. customers, but
decreased slightly among European and Asian customers.

•

Over time, customers have shown a growing interest in being able to get information on environmental practices
from their suppliers. The results portray Canada in a positive light. Canada gets the best marks in terms of providing
reputation support for customers.

Data Source/Report Period
The measure is tracked through a survey of international customers conducted every other year with other groups involved in
the marketing of Canadian forest products. The survey is conducted by an independent third party organization.

Risk and Capacity Issues
FII had the staff and resources to achieve Goal 2 in 2011/12.

14

The survey was carried out a year earlier than forecast due to a review of related federal programs, as well as a range of shifting forestry and natural resource

issues that have raised Canada’s and B.C.’s profile in international markets.
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GOAL 3

FII IS A HIGHLY EFFECTIVE, INNOVATIVE AND RESPONSIVE ORGANIZATION

FII is committed to sound business practices that include rigorous financial controls, a performance management framework,
and a monitoring, audit and evaluation program built on a comprehensive risk-assessment strategy. All of these activities
meet or exceed government policies and guidelines. FII is also committed to a path of environmental sustainability in order
to protect the natural environment and the B.C. economy for future generations.
The strategies used in 2011/12 to achieve Goal 3 were to:
•

Ensure FII is efficient, transparent and results focused by:
»»

Keeping corporate support costs at or below 7% of total budget

»»

Implementing a rigorous performance management system

»»

Monitoring and auditing funded projects according to explicit risk assessments

•

Ensure the integrity and timeliness of funding to other organizations for activities that will enhance the forest sector’s
economic and social benefits to British Columbia; and

•

Minimize FII’s carbon footprint and promote environmentally responsible business activities.

Select Highlights from 2011/12
PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
In 2011/12, FII initiated a thorough review and update
of the organization’s performance management
framework. The update was undertaken with the
assistance of Performance Management Network
(PMN) of Ottawa, which was engaged to assess
how well the framework is working in evaluating
annual results and informing a process of continuous
improvement and evolution in programming.
In submitting its final report to FII, PMN noted that
FII “is well served by its performance framework
and related systems, and is in many ways leading
the sector in how it approaches performance
management and reporting.”
The update was completed in March 2012 and the
new framework is now posted on the FII website
at: http://www.bcfii.ca/wp-content/uploads/
aboutus/corporate/corporate-reports/PerformanceManagement-Framework-2012.pdf.
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COLLABORATING ON PROVINCIAL TRADE
INITIATIVES
During 2011/12 FII provided support to a number of
B.C. Government trade initiatives.
In November 2012, FII organized and delivered the
forest sector elements of Premier Christy Clark’s trade
and investment mission to China and India. In China, FII
organized a focused program of site visits, meetings and
networking activities that included participation by Minister
of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation Pat Bell; Minister of Forest,
Lands and Natural Resource Operations Steve Thomson;
and 34 executives from the B.C. forest sector. In India, FII
explored opportunities for the forest sector by leading a
delegation of nine industry representatives on a market
familiarization visit to Kandla, a key centre for India’s wood
importing, processing and distribution industry.
In November 2011, FII also organized a forest sector
mission to Japan, led by Steve Thomson, Minister
of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations.
In Japan, Minister Thomson was joined by Natural
Resources Canada Minister Joe Oliver and 12 senior
industry executives to announce $4.5 million in
provincial, federal and industry commitments to the
Canada Tohoku Reconstruction Project. (Refer to Goal 1)

Performance Targets

PERFORMANCE
MEASURE
E

Timeliness of annual funding
cycle for trade associations,
research institutes, and
universities

2011/12
TARGET/
ACTUAL

2010/11
ACTUAL
Competitive
funding
process was
completed by
April 1

Competitive
funding
process is
completed
by April 1
/ Process
completed
before April 1
(Exceeded)

TARGET
2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

Competitive
funding
process is
completed by
April 1

Competitive
funding
process is
completed by
April 1

Competitive
funding
process is
completed by
April 1

Importance of Measure
Over half of FII’s budget is used to fund activities proposed through an annual Call for Proposals process. This process
typically attracts some 35 proposals describing many hundreds of proposed activities and detailing specific cost estimates
and cost sharing. Proposals are peer reviewed and point-ranked against pre-set evaluation criteria. Performance Measure E
tracks how efficient FII is in managing the annual funding process, a key objective which is to ensure that funding is available
to successful proponents by the start of each fiscal year.

Performance Analysis
FII met the target for Performance Measure E in 2011/12.

Data Source/Report Period
The measure is tracked internally by FII staff.

Risk and Capacity Issues
FII had the staff and resources to achieve Goal 3 in 2011/12.
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Economic, Industry and Market Factors
The following factors had an impact on performance in 2011/12:

RISKS &
OPPORTUNITIES

IMPACT

FII RESPONSE IN 2011/12

U.S. Housing market
•

Risk: Continued weakness
in the U.S. housing market.

•

As B.C.’s largest export market,
continued weakness threatened
total sales and profits of the B.C.
forest industry.

Goal 1 market development:
•

Continued emphasis on developing
Asian markets, with an emphasis on
China.

•

Explored emerging markets,
notably by working to establish a
presence in India in 2012/13.

•

Built demand in U.S. non-residential
and multi-family residential sectors,
both currently with low market share
of wood construction and products.

Demand for Wood in Asia
•

•

Opportunity: The
Chinese economy is the
fastest growing large
economy in the world,
with increasing demand
for commodity products,
such as lumber.

•

•

The Chinese Government
has called for cooperation
with Canada on the
adoption of modern
wooden structures to
address climate change.

Rapid growth in B.C. lumber exports
to China can mitigate the collapse in
U.S. demand and soft global demand.
Chinese authorities are focused on
addressing climate change in their
construction practices. Wood frame
construction has been identified as
offering potential solutions, leading
to a potential increase in demand
for B.C. lumber.

Goal 1 market development:
•

Pursued market segments that are
less subject to cyclical fluctuations
(e.g., affordable housing in China).

•

Diversified market development
across multiple segments such as
multi-family, non-residential and
resort development.

•

Continued market development
initiatives in other Asian markets and in
key growth segments in North America.

•

Continued to work under the MOU
with the Chinese Ministry of Housing
and Urban-Rural Development to
promote the superior environmental
performance of wood in construction.

Coastal Industry
•
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Risk: Soft market demand
for Hemlock and Amabalis
Fir (HemFir).
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•

Soft demand for the major species,
by volume, from coastal B.C.
seriously weakens the profitability
of the coastal forest economy.

Goal 1 market development:
•

Supported market development in
Japan targeted to HemFir products.

•

Explored new market opportunities
for HemFir, especially in India.

•

Funded Western Red Cedar
promotion to strengthen sales of the
other major species from the coast.

RISKS &
OPPORTUNITIES

IMPACT

FII RESPONSE IN 2011/12

Advances in Building Systems and Products
•

Opportunity: New wood
products and building
systems provide entry into
new building segments.

•

•

Wood products and building systems
are becoming price competitive
in larger building (commercial,
institutional) markets, opening up
tremendous growth potential.
Greater price sensitivity in multifamily residential and commercial
building sectors opens up
opportunities as wood construction
is cost competitive with concrete
and steel building systems.

Goal 1 market development:
•

Researched innovative building
systems that allow taller, larger
buildings to be built with wood (Tall
Wood Buildings study).

•

Promoted cost competitiveness of
wood construction and products
to the development sector,
highlighting new construction
techniques and products, such as
cross-laminated timber.

Changing Attitudes Towards the Environment
•

•

Risk: Consumers sensitivity
towards global forest
practices and resulting
disfavor of forest products.

Opportunity: Consumer
preferences shift towards
green products.

•

•

Greater consumer awareness of
global warming created sensitivity
on forest practices, which may lead
to a reputational risk and consumer
resistance in purchasing wood
products.

Goal 2 benefits of wood:

Greater consumer interest in green
products increased market demand
for B.C. wood products, particularly
for value-added products, as B.C.
products are sustainably harvested.

•

Promoted the high environmental
standards of B.C. forest practices to
consumers and buyers in key markets.

•

Promoted the benefits of wood as
a product that regenerates naturally
and, when forests are managed
sustainably, supports climate
change reduction strategies.

•

Emphasized sustainable, green
nature of B.C. wood products
through target.

Market development funding
•

•

Risk: Partner funding
for market development
initiatives is reduced or
eliminated.

•

Through co-funding
arrangement, FII funds, on
average, 40% of the cost
of market development
programs, with the federal
government and industry
covering the remaining
60% of program costs.

•

Any change in funding from other
organizations would have a direct
impact on the scale and breadth of
market development initiatives.
Lower funding would reduce
market development activities
and potentially allow competitors
to increase market share at the
expense of B.C. forest companies,
jeopardizing achievement of Goal
1 targets.

Goal 3 highly effective, innovative and
responsive organization:
•

Integrated planning with the federal
Canada Wood Export Program to
ensure that market development
program aligns with federal
government priorities.

•

Consulted with industry and federal
government in development of
annual Investment Strategies that
guide decision making on market
development funding.

•

Provided partners with quantifiable
results of market development
programs to reinforce the value of
their funding.
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Changes to Goals and Performance Measures since Publication of 2011/12 - 2013/14
Service Plan
The addition of the Wood First Initiative to the mandate of FII in mid-2011 led to a review of Goals 1 and 2 and the supporting
strategies and performance measures. Subsequently, the Wood First Initiative was shifted to Goal 2 in the 2012/13 Service Plan
and the goal was rewritten as “Position wood as a preferred building material and B.C. as a global leader in wood innovation.”
The rationale for this change was to focus Goal 1 on market development initiatives and Goal 2 on enabling strategies that
support market development. With this change, a new performance measure related to the Wood First Initiative was added to
Goal 2 (percent of allowable floor area in B.C. government buildings built with wood) for 2012/13.
Also in the 2012/13 Service Plan, a new performance measure, “Leveraged dollars as a percentage of total annual funding
program,” was added to Goal 3 as a means of reporting the total value of market development initiatives supported by FII and
to reflect FII’s effectiveness in securing other sources of funding for market development initiatives.
Reporting against the new performance measures will be included in the FII Annual Service Plan Report for 2012/13.

Canada Wood display at the 2011 Japan Homeshow, Tokyo, Japan.
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Corporate Social Responsibility
FII is committed to socially responsible practices in all business activities. In 2011/12, these included:
•

public tendering of all major contracts through a transparent application and selection process (BC Bid-sanctioned);

•

financial reporting on a timely basis that met or exceeded government guidelines;

•

acting professionally and ethically in all business relationships, both in Canada and abroad;

•

ensuring a safe, equitable and discrimination-free work environment for all staff;

•

encouraging professional development by staff to improve organizational productivity, innovation and personal
satisfaction levels; and

•

maintaining internal controls to ensure all standards are met.

Regarding environmental practices, FII is carbon-neutral and continues to reduce its direct and indirect greenhouse gas
emissions. Procurement policies ensure that all forest products are sourced from sustainably managed forests.
FII has established two overarching priorities as the basis of its environmental responsibility policy:
•

reducing the intensity of the organization’s environmental footprint; and

•

promoting environmentally responsible business activities.

These policies reflect FII’s commitment to environmental sustainability in order to protect the natural environment and the
B.C. economy for future generations.
Green initiatives undertaken in 2011/12 included:
•

addressing electrical consumption by installing sensor lighting in low-use areas;

•

continuing the integration of social media and online advertising and messaging into marketing initiatives to reduce the
need for printed material;

•

adopting iPads for disseminating documents related to FII’s annual call for proposal process thus eliminating the need for
large print runs; and

•

continuing FII’s involvement in “Green Team” energy saving initiatives in association with the landlord and with the
support of BC Hydro.

Details on the actions being taken in support of the policy are posted at:
http://www.bcfii.ca/aboutus/corporate/corporate-reports.
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Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations

15

The 2011/12 Service Plan Annual Report reflects the Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations (SLE) signed by the Minister of
Forests and Range in October 2010. The SLE instructed FII to:
•

position British Columbia as a global supplier of world-class environmentally friendly forest products;

•

actively maintain, create and diversify demand for B.C. forest products in Canada and in key world markets;

•

help break down non-tariff trade and market barriers to ensure opportunities for B.C. forest products;

•

work with the forest industry to promote B.C.’s forest products and forest management to the global marketplace; and

•

help ensure that the forest sector, through product development and strong international sales, continues to be a leading
contributor to the B.C. economy.

In working towards its mandate, FII is directed to ensure operations and performance are consistent with the government’s
strategic direction, fiscal plan and applicable policies and regulations. Details on these directives are available at: http://www.
bcfii.ca/about_fii/corporate_reports.htm.
The following table summarizes specific direction in the SLE, and the relevant actions by FII:

SLE DIRECTION TO FII

RESPONSE TO DIRECTION

Focus FII market development
activities in the following markets:

•

FII has placed a priority on the Chinese market. In 2011/12 approximately
22% of total expenditures managed by FII were focused on market
development initiatives in China.

•

Lumber sales were up significantly in 2011, with the total volume of
exports reaching 7.3 million m3, which exceeded target by more than 1
million m3.16

•

Coordination of efforts in China between FII and industry are managed
through joint planning and the submission by Canada Wood Group to FII
of an annual market development program for China.

•

In 2011/12, FII and industry agreed that market development efforts in
China should be largely consolidated under industry’s Canada Wood
Group umbrella, with FII efforts focused on providing government-togovernment support on behalf of the trade associations. The process of
consolidation will be completed by the end of 2012/13.

•

FII worked closely with the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation
(formerly the Ministry of Tourism, Trade and Investment) during the
year. Coordination was enhanced in March 2011 by the transfer of
responsibility for FII from the Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural
Resource Operations to the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation.

•

FII’s operating structure in China was established based on Canadian
and Chinese legal advice to ensure compliance with the requirements of
both countries. Business practices reflect accounting standards in both
countries and are regularly reviewed to ensure ongoing compliance.

China
•

Ensure B.C. firms sell 4
billion board feet of lumber
by 2011.

•

Maximize coordination,
efficiency and effectiveness of
all B.C.-led programming in
China, including coordinating
efforts with Ministry of
Tourism, Trade and Innovation
offices in China.

•

Ensure programs comply
with Canadian business
practices and Chinese law.

15

For 2012/13, this document has been re-named “Government’s Letter of Expectation”.

16

7.3 million m3 converts to approximately 4.6 billion board feet using a net cubic metre to nominal board foot factor of 0.628. Although the lumber industry in

North American typically reports volumes in nominal board feet, calculation methodologies to convert board feet to cubic metres (the international measurement
standard) vary. FII reports volumes in cubic metres to ensure consistency with Statistics Canada data and with international reporting norms.
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SLE DIRECTION TO FII

RESPONSE TO DIRECTION

Japan, Korea and United States

•

In 2011/12 FII funded industry market development programs in Japan,
Korea and the United States. In Japan efforts focused on growing the
acceptance of 2x4 building systems as “fireproof” as well as expanding
market share in the construction of elderly care facilities. In the US, FII
investments continued in the US WoodWorks program to expand wood
use in non-residential sector. And in Korea, programming during the year
emphasized market access (elimination of code barriers) and builder/
designer education.

•

In 2011 B.C.’s share of Japanese imports was 26%, unchanged from 2010,
while the Province’s share of Korean imports rose to 12.5%, up from 8% a
year earlier. For the United States, B.C.’s share of imports was 47%, down
marginally from 2010 as the downturn in the housing market continued.

•

FII continues to coordinate its market development initiatives with the Tokyo
and Seoul offices of the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation.

Ensure that market
development activities are
founded on sound market
research.

•

In 2011/12, work was undertaken to document the market potential in
priority markets in Asia (especially India) and North America in an effort to
better assess opportunities.

•

Initiatives in China, Japan, Korea and the U.S. accounted for almost all of
FII’s country-specific budget allocations in 2011/12.

•

Harmonize all market
development programs with
those of the Government of
Canada.

•

FII and Natural Resources Canada (NRCan) continued an extensive
partnership with industry in developing and implementing the market
development programs in Asia. FII and NRCan closely align their policies
and processes for making funding available to other organizations,
including the use of a common web-based system for accepting
proposals, entering into funding agreements, financial and operational
reporting, and auditing.

•

Ensure Asia-related
priorities and strategies are
consistent with the provincial
government’s Asia-Pacific
Gateway objectives.

•

FII continued to focus market development primarily on stimulating the
export of forest products to China, Japan and Korea. In addition, FII
collaborated with the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation, and the
Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations in delivering
Premier- and Minister-led trade missions to China, Japan and India.

•

Promote the development of
new technologies and wood
products domestically and
internationally.

•

In 2011/12, FII provided $800,000 in support of the industry-led
Business Innovation Program, which is mandated to work with individual
companies and on cross-industry initiatives to increase the marketing and
manufacturing competitiveness of the value-added wood products sector
in B.C.

•

Maintain or increase B.C.
share of forest product
imports.

•

Work to coordinate efforts
with Ministry of Tourism,
Trade and Investment offices
in each market.

•
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SLE DIRECTION TO FII

RESPONSE TO DIRECTION

•

•

2011/12 was the final year of a two-year arrangement with the Wood
Enterprise Coalition (WEC), a partnership of the Canadian Wood
Council, BC Wood Specialties Group and FPInnovations. During the year,
WEC allocated funding in support of demonstration projects featuring
cross-laminated timber (CLT) and/or other engineered wood products.
Key projects included the North Vancouver Civic Centre, the Elkford
Community Centre and the Squamish Outdoor Learning Centre. The
WEC also commissioned a study outlining the feasibility of building taller
wood structures (beyond the recent B.C. Building Code changes that
allow 6-storey structures in wood).

•

During the year, a new governance model for the Wood First Initiative
was implemented and will result in further integration of programming in
B.C. for 2012/13, and increased cooperation among funding recipients.

•

By the end of 2011/12, a total of 42 communities in B.C. had adopted a
Wood First policy or resolution.

•

In 2011/12, FII continued to work with national and North American
partners to advocate for recognition of the three internationallyrecognized certification systems in B.C., namely CSA, FSC and SFI. As
a voting member of the U.S. Green Building Council, FII provided input
and voted on the proposed LEED Forest Certification Benchmark used
to evaluate forest certification systems. The latest submissions to LEED
continue to encourage recognition of all forest certification systems,
as well as support for inclusion of Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) and
Environmental Product Declarations (EPD).

•

Bylined articles were also placed in key trade publications addressing the
need for a more fulsome approach to green building rating systems and
recognition of forest certification and the true environmental impacts of
material choice and sources.

•

While LEED is the most recognized green building rating system in North
America, it has not adopted an inclusive approach to recognizing forest
certification systems. By contrast, the following green building rating
systems/building codes accept the CSA, FSC, and SFI forest certifications:
ASHRAE 189.1, Green Globes, ANSI/GBI 01-2010, International Green
Construction Code, NGBS (ANSI/ICC 700-2008), and Built Green.

•

FII is in compliance with the Province’s directives on climate change and,
in 2011/12, the Company continued to purchase carbon offsets from the
Pacific Carbon Trust to make the organization carbon neutral.

•

The vast majority of FII’s carbon footprint is attributable to the China
subsidiary as nearly 80% of Chinese electricity production is coal based.
Efforts continued in 2011/12 to reduce electricity consumption at offices
in Shanghai and Beijing.

•

•
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Promote the Wood First
Initiative in B.C. and Canada.

Encourage amendment of
the Leadership in Energy
and Environmental Design
(LEED) Green Building
Rating System standards
regarding wood use to
accept all B.C. certified
wood products.

Comply with the Shareholder’s
initiatives on climate change
and carbon neutrality.
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Financial Report
Management Discussion and Analysis
FII began the year expecting to spend a total of $20.0 million based on:
•

$18.8 million in funding from the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation

•

$0.3 million for Wenchuan Earthquake projects, provided by the Beichuan Municipality

•

$0.9 million for commercially oriented demonstration projects in China, to be provided primarily by the Canada Wood Group.

Actual expenditures (including non-cash items), compared to the previous year, were as follows:

2011/12 $ million

2010/11 $ million

21.508

25.799

Actual costs:
•

cash

•

amortization

•

TOTAL

Payments to other organizations based on annual
Call for Proposals

0.193

0.247

21.701

26.046

$7.60 million, or 35% of
total expenditures

$8.90 million, or 34% of
total expenditures

The actual cash expenditure of $21.5 million included $0.880 million for Wenchuan Earthquake reconstruction in China and
$1.02 million for China Demonstration projects. This was offset by a cash contribution of $0.762 million from the Canada
Wood Group and $0.284 million from Beichuan County in China. Late in the fiscal year FII also received a previously
unplanned $2.0 million from the Province of B.C. as a donation towards the Japan Tsunami reconstruction projects. Those
funds were granted to Canada Wood Group for that purpose.
FII’s payments to funding recipients covered 34% of the total cost of their projects, with the Government of Canada and
other funders contributing 45% and the funding recipients contributing 21%. New cost-share rules were introduced at the
beginning of 2011/12 to reflect a distinction between finding new markets and creating demand, and maintaining existing
markets. This had an impact on each party’s share of the funding, with industry contributions increasing by 4% from the
previous year, and FII’s share falling by 3%.
Funding recipients ultimately spent $0.921 million (or 11%) less than was committed to them at the beginning of the year.
This under-spending was a result of recipient’s Market Development projects being scaled back, delayed or cancelled.
Previously claimed expenses of $0.064 million (or 0.8%) were deemed ineligible prior to audit in 2011/12 and were included
in receivables owing back to FII.
In total, FII’s final net under-spending was $0.280 million relative to the initial plan. This was entirely attributable to funding
recipients’ post-year-end turn back of unspent advances.
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Looking Ahead
BUDGET ALLOCATIONS
For 2012/13, total funding available to FII is expected to be about $17.8 million, down from $21.2 million this past year.
The change is because last year’s figure included the Province’s $2 million donation for tsunami reconstruction in Japan, and
because Provincial and federal funding for Wenchuan Earthquake and other reconstruction projects in China has ended.
Budget allocations for 2012/13 will be approximately as follows:
•

$7.3 million for market development work by trade associations, and $0.6 million to administer the funding program; this
funding will be allocated through the annual Call for Proposals process, with most funds going to B.C. trade associations
working in China, the United States, Japan and Korea. Cost-share rules for the funding will be essentially the same as in
the past.

•

$2.5 million for the Wood First Program, of which $2.2 million will be made available to the members of the Wood
Enterprise Coalition to collaborate on delivering a suite of activities based on priorities recommended by the new Wood
First Advisory Committee; $0.3 million will be used to support FII’s internally initiated projects related to Wood First, such
as commissioning technical studies of cross-laminated timber.

•

$1.8 million to FII China;

•

$0.8 million to establish a new office and undertake initial research in India;

•

$3.5 million for FII’s self-initiated market outreach and development initiatives; and

•

$1.3 million for FII’s corporate support.

OPERATIONS
FII will continue to rely heavily on trade associations to develop and deliver market development programs based on countryspecific strategies and quantified sales objectives for each product line and identified end-uses.
In China, the final commercial demonstration projects will be completed by mid-2012, allowing FII China staff to focus
on building deeper and broader relationships with Chinese government officials at all levels, as well as with state owned
development companies. The intelligence they gain and relationships they build will help to guide priorities of B.C. trade
associations and individual firms.
A significant operational change will arise in the coming year as FII establishes a subsidiary company in Mumbai, India, sets
up an office in concert with trade and investment representatives of the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation, and hires
initial staff.
GOVERNANCE
Governance of FII will continue to be vested in the Board of Directors consisting of two Deputy Ministers and one Assistant
Deputy Minister. The new subsidiary company in India will be governed by a Board of Directors consisting of FII’s CEO and
two Vice Presidents.
To ensure that FII’s programming continues to accord not only with the B.C. Government’s priorities, but also those of the
B.C. forest industry, staff will continuously consult with expert advisory committees as described earlier in this annual report.
FINANCIAL
Year-over-year financial data for FII and its subsidiary FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. are summarized in the tables on the
following page.
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Forestry  Innovation  Investment  
Statement  of  Funding  and  Expenditures  by  Program  
Comparison  to  Budget  and  Prior  year  (in  $000s)  
  
2008/09
Actual

  
Funding
Receipts - Province of BC
Receipts - Wenchuan Reconstruction
Receipts - Government - Other
Investment Income
Other Revenue
Total Funding

  

$

$

  

Expenditures
Market Outreach & Initiatives

24,377
1,700
26,077

  
  

Corporate Support

  
Amortization

Variance
from
Budget

2011/12
Budget

2012/13
Budget

2013/14
Budget

2014/15
Budget

$

$

$

17,443
(2)

3,815

(1)

1,697

$

18,723
4,772
2,637
26,132

$

20,520
117
284
38
762
21,721

$

18,800
130
312
780
20,022

$
$
$
$
$
$

1,720
(13)
(28)
38
(18)
1,699

14,513

15,474

14,930

$

544

2,781

2,901

2,976

$

(75)

4,690

880

284

$

596

(5)

$

(4)

$

17,800
190
17,990

$

$

17,800
170
17,970

$

$

17,800
150
17,950

14,690

15,300

15,300

1,850

1,200

1,200

(3)

-

-

-

(4)

-

-

-

3,035

2,761

1,015

762

$

253

1,137

1,381

1,054

1,238

1,070

$

168

1,260

1,300

1,300

445

436

247

193

-

$

193

190

170

150

20,022

$

1,679

$

-

$

20

$

26,077

$

27,807

$

-

$

456

$

$

Transfer from Contributed Surplus

  

2011/12
Actual

-

  

Excess of Funding Over Expenditures

23,075
1,847
3,341
28,263

1,927

China - Demonstration Projects

  

$

4,227

China - Wenchuan Reconstruction

  

$

18,341

China - Market Development

Total Expenditures

2010/11
Actual

(under) over

  
  

2009/10
Actual

$

$

$

86

$

-

-

26,046

$

456

21,701

$

20

$

-

86

$

-

20

$

17,990

$

-

$

-

$

17,970

$

-

$

20

$

17,950

-

$

-

-

$

-

  
(1)

Includes $1,003 of non cash DHC prepaid lease w rite-off

(2)

Includes $1,370 of non cash DHC prepaid lease w rite-off

(3)

Delays in completion of the Beichuan Elderly Care Facility accounted for the overrun

(4)

Delays in the Hebei and TEDA projects accounted for the overrun

(5)

Includes $2 million received late in the year for Japan Tsunami Reconstruction projects

  
  
  

FII  Consulting  (Shanghai)  Co.  Ltd.  
Statement  of  Funding  and  Expenditures  (in  $000s)  
  
2008/09
Actual

Funding
Receipts - Forestry Innovation Investment
Total Funding

$
$

Expenditures
China - Market Development
Total Expenditures
Operating Income (loss)

(1)

Includes $1,003 of non cash DHC prepaid lease w rite-off

(2)

Includes $1,370 of non cash DHC prepaid lease w rite-off

  

2009/10
Actual

$
$

4,227
4,227

4,227

2010/11
Actual

3,815
3,815

3,815

(2)

$
$

2011/12
Actual

2,781
2,781

$
$

2,781

(1)

2011/12
Budget

2,901
2,901

$
$

2,901

Variance
from Budget

Variance from
Prior year

(under) over

(under) over

2,976
2,976

$
$

(195)
(195)

2,976

$

(195)
(195)

$

4,227

$

3,815

$

2,781

$

2,901

$

2,976

$

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

  

-

(120)
(120)

$

(120)
$

(120)

$

-
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Statement of Management Responsibility

Statement	
  of	
  Management	
  Responsibility  
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Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated	
  
Consolidated	
  
Financial	
  
Financial	
  
Statements
Statements
     
FORESTRY  INNOVATION  INVESTMENT  LTD.  
FORESTRY  INNOVATION  INVESTMENT  LTD.  

Consolidated  Statements  of  Financial  Position    
Consolidated  Statements  of  Financial  Position    
(in  thousands  of  dollars)  
(in  thousands  of  dollars)  
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42   42  

FORESTRY INNOVATION INVESTMENT LTD.

FORESTRY  INNOVATION  INVESTMENT  LTD.  

Consolidated Statements
Statementsof
ofOperations
Operationsand
andAccumulated
AccumulatedSurplus
Surplus
Consolidated
    
ended March
March 31,
31,2012
2012and
andMarch
March31,
31,2011
2011
Years ended
(in thousands
thousands of
of dollars)
dollars)
(in
2012
2012
Budget
Budget
(Note
(Note2(g))
2(g))

Revenue:
Revenue:
Government
Government contributions
contributions--Provincial
Provincial
Government
contributions
Government contributions–Federal
Federal
Government contributions  Other
Government contributions – Other
Other revenue  Industry Contribution
Other revenue – Industry Contribution
Investment income
Investment income
  

2012
2012

2011
2011
(Restated
- (Restated
Note
3) 3)
Note

$ $ 18,800
$ $ 20,520
$ $ 21,996
18,800
20,520
21,996
130
117
3,702
130
117
3,702
312
284
332
312
284
332
780
762
75
780
762
75
38
27
38
27
        20,022                                      21,72126,132  
20,022
21,721
26,132

  
Expenses:
Expenses:
Funding recipient initiatives (note 15)
Funding
recipient initiatives
(note 15)
Market initiatives
and outreach
Market
initiatives (note
and outreach
FII Vancouver
15)
FII
FII Vancouver
China (note(note
15) 15)
FII Chinaservices
(note 15)(note 15)
Corporate
Corporate services (note 15)

Annual surplus
Annual surplus
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year
Accumulated surplus, end of year
Accumulated surplus, end of year

$

$

9,356
9,356
5,574
5,574
4,022
4,022
1,070
1,070
20,022
20,022

8,203
8,203
7,271
7,271
4,796
4,796
1,431
1,431
21,701
21,701

9,574
9,574
4,893
4,893
10,278
10,278
1,301
1,301
26,046
26,046

1,150
1,150

20
20
1,150
1,150

86
86
1,064
1,064

1,150
1,150

$

$

1,170
1,170

$

$

1,150
1,150

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FORESTRY  INNOVATION  INVESTMENT  LTD.  

Statements of Changes in Net Financial Assets (Debt)
Years ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011
(in thousands of dollars)
2012
Budget
(Note 2(g))

Annual surplus

$

-

2012

2011

(Restated Note 3)
$

20

$

86

Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Use (acquisition) of prepaid expenses

(50)
200
-

(204)
193
(76)

(48)
247
1,050

Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (debt)

150

(67)

1,335

Net financial assets (debt), beginning of year

585

585

Net financial assets, end of year

$

735

$

518

(750)
$

585

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FORESTRY  INNOVATION  INVESTMENT  LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011
(in thousands of dollars)
2012

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Annual surplus
Items not involving cash:
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Decrease in accounts receivable
Decrease (increase) in recipient advances
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses

$

$

193
1,197
(150)
(1,126)
(76)
58

Cash used in capital activities:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities:
Change in due to Province of British Columbia
Change in deferred contributions
Repayment of note payable

Increase (decrease) in cash
Cash, beginning of year (includes bank indebtedness)
Cash, end of year

20

2011
(Restated 
Note 3)

247
2,974
216
886
1,050
5,459

(204)

(48)

176
(6,031)
(5,855)

(605)
4,890
(1,561)
2,724

(6,001)

8,135

7,858
$

86

1,857

(277)
$

7,858

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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FORESTRY  INNOVATION  INVESTMENT  LTD.  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Years ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011

1.

Nature of business:
#%&'%+ ""#)'#" ")&'!"' ' ' , #!$"+- *& "#%$#%' #" %   
("% ' *& # ' %#)" # %'& # (! ' ,%#)"-  #% # %'#%&
governs the Company, and all directors are appointed by the Province  #!$"+.&
principal activities are to fund forest industry associations and research institutions and to
deliver market development and market initiatives and outreach programs.

2.

Significant accounting policies:
(a) Basis of accounting
In 2010, direction *& $%#) + ' %#)"  %&(%+ #% ,%&(%+ #%-
through Government Organization Accounting Standards Regulation 257/2010 requiring all
tax-payer supported government reporting entities, other than education and health sector
organizations '# #$' (  '#% #("'" #% , - &'"%& # '
"" "&''(' # %'% #("'"'& ,  - *'#(' "+    '#"& #%
their first fiscal year commencing after January 1, 2011.
In March 2011, PSAB released a new Public Sector Accounting Standard PS 3410
,#)%"!"'%"&%&-''$$ &'# & $%#&"""#"#%'% $% 
The standard encourages early adoption, and may be applied retroactively or
prospectively. Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. has chosen to early adopt the new
standard for fiscal 2012 and is applying it prospectively. In November 2011, Treasury
Board provided a directive through Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 providing
direction for the reporting of restricted contributions whether they are received or receivable
by the Company before or after this regulation was in effect. The Treasury Board direction
on the accounting treatment of restricted contributions is as described in note 2(c)(i) and
note 2(c)(ii).
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
"" %$#%'"%!*#%&%#)&%' #!$"+.&%&'#"&# '
financial statements in accordance with the financial reporting framework described above.
An explanation of how the transition to the financial reporting framework described above
has affected the reported financial position and results of operations of the Company is
provided in note 3. Note 3 includes reconciliations of accumulated surplus and annual
surplus for the comparative period and of accumulated surplus at the date of transition
%$#%' ("% $%)#(& "" "% + $' #("'" %"$ & , ""
 -'#'#&%$#%'#%'#&$%#&"'''#'%"&'#"(nder the financial
reporting framework described above.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(b) Reporting entity and basis of consolidation:
These consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, and
expenses of the reporting entity. The reporting entity is comprised of the Company
         !  "    
  #  
China, FII Shanghai administers market development programs in China on behalf of the
Company. The subsidiary is consolidated on a line-by-line basis after inter-organizational
transactions and balances between these entities have been eliminated.
(c) Revenue recognition:
Unrestricted contributions, donations and grants are recorded as revenue when receivable
if the amounts can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
Restricted contributions include amounts from the Province, the Canadian Federal
Government, and the Beichuan Municipal County received for specific purposes. Restricted
contributions are reported as revenue depending on the nature of the restrictions on the
use of funds by the contributors as follows:
(i)

Contributions received or receivable for the purpose of acquiring or developing a
depreciable tangible capital asset or in the form of a depreciable tangible capital
asset, in each case for use in providing services, are recorded and referred to as
deferred contributions. Deferred contributions are reduced and the associated
revenue recognized at the same rate and in the same fiscal period that
amortization is recognized in respect of the acquired depreciable tangible capital
asset used to provide services. There is no restricted capital funding.

(ii)

Contributions received or receivable for a purpose other than acquiring a
depreciable tangible capital asset for use in providing services are recorded as
deferred contributions. Deferred contributions are reduced and the associated
revenue recognized in the fiscal period during which the stipulation or restriction on
the contribution have been met.

Investment income includes interest recorded on an accrual basis.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(d) Program expenses:
Program expenses include amounts transferred to recipient organizations based on
recipient funding contracts to carry out specific program activities. Amounts transferred are
recognized as expenses in the period in which events giving rise to the transfer occur,
providing the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met by the recipient,
and reasonable estimates of the amounts can be made.
(e) Non-financial assets:
(i)

Tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes all amounts that are
directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the
asset. Cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets is amortized on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Asset

Useful life

Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Tradeshow booths
(ii)

3 years
2 years
5 years
lesser of the lease term and its useful life
3 years

Contributions of tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at
the date of receipt.

(iii)

Interest capitalization
The Company does not capitalize interest costs associated with the acquisition or
construction of tangible capital assets.

(iv)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are not recognized in these financial statements under PSAB.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(f) Foreign currency translation:
                  
operations, conducted through FII Shanghai, are considered financially interdependent with
the Company, and are translated from Chinese RMB using the temporal method of
translation. Accordingly, monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the spot exchange
rates in effect at the date of the statements of financial position; non-monetary items are
translated at historical exchange rates in effect on the dates of the transactions. Revenue
and expense items are translated at monthly average exchange rates in effect during the
month in which the transaction occurred, except for amortization which is translated at the
historical exchange rate of the corresponding non-monetary item. Realized exchange gains
and losses are included in the consolidated statements of operations.
(g) Budget:
Budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements is based on the
Service Plans. The budget was approved by the Board of Directors on July 11,
2011.
(h) Use of estimates:
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year.
Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the allowance for
recipient advances and useful lives of property and equipment. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.
(i) Segment disclosures:
A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for
which is it is appropriate to separately report financial information to achieve the objective
of the standard. The Company has provided definitions of segments used by the Company
as well as presented financial information in segmented format in note 15.
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3.

Adoption of new accounting framework:
Commencing with the 2012 fiscal year, the Company has adopted the financial reporting
framework described in note 2(a). These consolidated financial statements are the first
consolidated financial statements for which the Company has applied this financial reporting
framework.
The impact of the conversion to the financial reporting framework described in note 2(a) on the
accumulated surplus at the date of transition and the comparative annual surplus is presented
below. These accounting changes have been applied retroactively with restatement of prior
periods.
The Company has made no transitional elections as at the transition date of April 1, 2010 on
the first time adoption of the financial reporting framework described in note 2(a).
Reconciliation of Canadian GAAP to the financial reporting framework described in note 2(a)
Reconciliation of accumulated surplus from Canadian GAAP to the financial reporting
framework described in note 2(a) as at April 1, 2010:

Accumulated surplus, as previously reported
Differences:
Recognition of contributions spent on tangible capital assets (a)
Recognition of contributions spent on advance deposit (a)
Accumulated surplus, as restated

$

456

$

480
128
1,064

Reconciliation of annual surplus from Canadian GAAP to the financial reporting framework
described in note 2(a) for the year ended March 31, 2011:
Annual surplus, as previously reported

$

Differences
Recognition of contributions spent on tangible capital assets (a)
Annual surplus, as restated
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(200)
$

  

286

86
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3.

Adoption of new accounting framework (continued):
Reconciliation of consolidated statement of financial position from Canadian GAAP to the
financial reporting framework described in note 2(a) as at April 1, 2010:
April 1, 2010
Previously stated
Financial assets
Cash (b)
Accounts receivable (b)
Recipient advances
Program advances (b)
Due from other governments

4,301
533
96
-

April 1, 2010
Restated

4,267
(96)
4,300

34
533
4,300

(65)
155

Liabilities
Cheques written in excess of cash balance (b) 342
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (b)
1,417
Future employee benefits
171
Due to Province of British Columbia
709
Deferred contributions (a)(d)
2,055
Note payable
1,561

(728)
-

277
1,572
171
709
1,327
1,561

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (c)(d)
Prepaid expense (b)
Intangible assets (c)(d)

2
153
(122)

480
1,334
-

608

1,064

478
1,181
122

Accumulated surplus (a)

  

Adjustments /
Reclassifications

456
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3.

Adoption of new accounting framework (continued):
Reconciliation of consolidated statement of financial position from Canadian GAAP to the
financial reporting framework described in note 2(a) as at March 31, 2011:
March 31, 2011
Previously stated

March 31, 2011
Restated

Financial assets
Cash (b)(e)
Restricted cash held in trust (e)
Accounts receivable (b)
Recipient advances
Due from other governments

7,426
377
1,276
317
-

432
(377)
(1,062)
1,146

7,858
214
317
1,146

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (b)
Future employee benefits
Restricted funds held in trust (e)
Program payables (b)
Due to Province of British Columbia
Deferred contributions (a)(d)(e)

1,875
377
460
104
6,392

583
171
(377)
(460)
(175)

2,458
171
104
6,217

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (c)(d)
Prepaid expense (b)
Intangible assets (c)(d)

275
129
150

6
155
(150)

281
284
-

Accumulated surplus (a)

742

408
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3.

Adoption of new accounting framework (continued):
Reconciliation of consolidated statement of operations from Canadian GAAP to the financial
reporting framework described in note 2(a) for the year ended March 31, 2011:
March 31, 2011
Previously stated
Revenue
Government contributions  Province (a)
Government contributions  Federal
Government contributions  Other
Other revenue
Investment income
Contribution for Wenchuan
Reconstruction Projects
Contribution for China Demonstration
Projects
Expenses
Market development
China market
Market initiatives and outreach
Corporate services
Amortization

Adjustments /
Reclassifications

March 31, 2011
Restated

18,898
-

3,098
3,702
332
75
27

21,996
3,702
332
75
27

4,772

(4,772)

-

2,637

(2,637)

-

9,574
10,232
4,784
1,100
331

46
109
201
(331)

9,574
10,278
4,893
1,301
-

286

(200)

86

Annual surplus

Key adjustments on the Compa                
adoption of these accounting standards are as follows:
(a) Previously, the Company deferred and amortized contributions which were spent on
acquiring or developing tangible capital assets and advance deposits. Under the Treasury
Board Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 described in note 2(a), only
contributions that are provided for the purpose of acquiring or developing depreciable
tangible capital assets should be deferred and recognized as revenue at the same rate as
the useful life of the tangible capital asset. Other contributions are recognized as revenue in
the period during which the stipulation or restriction on the contribution has been met. The
        rovince does not state that the contributions are
for the purpose of acquiring tangible capital assets or advance deposits. As a result, the
consolidated financial statements have been revised to recognize revenue for the
contributions once spent on acquiring or developing tangible capital assets and advance
deposits. The resulting decrease to deferred contributions as at April 1, 2010 was $608
consisting of $480 from capital assets and $128 from advance deposits. A reduction in
revenue of $200 resulted in a decrease to annual surplus in the 2011 fiscal year.
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3.

Adoption of new accounting framework (continued):
(b) Previously, the Company accounted for the assets and liabilities of FII Shanghai on a net
basis within program advances and/or program payables. Under the financial reporting
framework described in note 2(a), subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis after
eliminating inter-company transactions and balances. The impact arising from consolidation
of FII Shanghai is summarized as follows:

Consolidated statement of financial position
Increase / (decrease)

March 31,
2011

Cash
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Prepaid expenses
Program advances
Program payables

$

Change in accumulated surplus

$

55
84
754
155
(460)
-

April 1,
2010
$

$

65
33
155
153
(96)
-

(c) Computer software is included in the definition of a tangible capital asset under the financial
reporting framework described in note 2(a). The consolidated financial statements have
been revised to reclassify computer software of $2 as at April 1, 2010 and $6 as at March
31, 2011, previously recorded as an intangible asset, to tangible capital assets.
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3.

Adoption of new accounting framework (continued):
(d) Website costs are not included in the definition of tangible capital assets under the financial
reporting framework described in note 2(a). The impact arising from the change is
summarized as follows:

Consolidated statement of financial position
Increase / (decrease)

March 31,
2011

Deferred contributions
Intangible assets

$

Change in accumulated surplus

$

(144)
(144)
-

April 1,
2010
$
$

(120)
(120)
-

March 31,
2011

Consolidated statement of operations
Increase / (decrease)
Government contributions - Province
Market initiative and outreach

$

-

$

25
25

Change in annual surplus

$

-

$

-

(e) Restricted cash held in trust and restricted funds held in trust of $377 relate to funding
received from the Beichuan Municipal County (BMC) specifically for costs incurred by the
general contractor, Fu Yuan on the Beichuan Reconstruction Project. Under the financial
reporting framework described in note 2(a), contributions received for a specified purpose
should be recorded as deferred contributions and recognized as revenue when the
stipulations have been met. The consolidated financial statements have been revised to
reclassify restricted cash held in trust to cash, and to reclassify restricted funds held in trust
to deferred contributions.
4.

Recipient advances:
Recipient funding contracts stipulate that unspent advances are repaid back to the Company.
Historically unspent advances have been repaid back to the Company prior to the end of the
first quarter of the new fiscal year after final reconciliation reports have been submitted and final
audits have been completed. As at March 31, 2012, the Company has identified $467 (March
31, 2011 - $317, April 1, 2010 - $533) as repayable by the recipient organizations.
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5.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Trade payables
Accrued liabilities

6.

March 31,
2012

March 31,
2011

$

833
499

$

981
1,477

$

524
1,048

$

1,332

$

2,458

$

1,572

Future employee benefit:
March 31,
2012

March 31,
2011

April 1,
2010

171

171

171

Future employee benefit (i)
$
(i)

7.

April 1,
2010

171

$

171

$

171

The Company has an obligation to pay a retirement allowance of $171 to a senior
executive at the expiry of the employment agreement. The contract expired March 31,
2012 with the retirement allowance to be paid in full in early fiscal 2013.

Due to Province of British Columbia:
The Company receives funding from the Province pursuant to a funding agreement. Under the
terms of the funding agreement, on an annual basis, the Company is required to refund any
unspent amounts to the Province. The amount is due to the Province upon completion of the
final audited financial report and is not subject to interest charges.
2012
Balance, beginning of year

$

Payments refunded back to the Province
Funds received for current year operations
Interest earned during the period
Program expenses

53
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$

(104)
20,788
29
(20,537)

Balance, end of year

  

104

2011

$

  

280

709
(709)
22,275
27
(22,198)

$

104
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8.

Deferred contributions:
Deferred contributions are comprised of the following:

Deferred contributions - Provincial
Deferred contributions  Government of
Canada
Deferred contributions  Other
Other  restricted cash (see note 3(e))

March 31,
2012

March 31,
2011

$

$

13
80
93

$

186

5,710

April 1,
2010
$

130
377
$

6,217

1,327
-

$

1,327

The change in deferred contributions in the year is as follows
2012
Balance, beginning of year

$

Net advances against program expenditure  Provincial
Net advances against program expenditure  Government of
Canada
Net advances against program expenditures  other
Net advances against program expenditure  restricted cash
Balance, end of year
9.

6,217

2011
$

(5,710)

5,710

(117)
80
(284)
$

186

1,327

(1,197)
377
$

6,217

Note payable:
The Company signed a $1,561 short-term note with a Canadian financial institution on March
31, 2010 against 90 percent of its accounts receivable invoices outstanding from the Federal
Government of Canada contract with a fair market value of $1,734 for the Wenchuan
Reconstruction Projects. The note required interest payable monthly at prime plus 0.5 percent.
Interest was effective April 1, 2010 and repayment of the loan was made in full in 2010 upon
receipt of payment of accounts receivable outstanding from the Federal Government (note 12).

Note payable

  

March 31,
2012

March 31,
2011

$

$

  

-

-

April 1,
2010
$

1,561
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10.

Tangible capital assets:
(a) For the year ended March 31, 2012:
Balance at
March 31,
2011

Cost

Disposals

Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Tradeshow booths

$

569
108
338
215
734

$

49
9
15
50
81

$

(18)
(41)
(336)

$

600
76
353
265
479

Total

$

1,964

$

204

$

(395)

$

1,773

Balance at
March 31,
2011

Accumulated
amortization

Balance at
March 31,
2012

Amortization
expense

Disposals

Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Tradeshow booths

$

481
103
270
156
673

$

(18)
(41)
(336)

$

55
4
27
47
60

$

518
66
297
203
397

Total

$

1,683

$

(395)

$

193

$

1,481

Net book value
March 31, 2011

Net book value
March 31, 2012

Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Tradeshow booths

$

87
5
68
59
62

$

81
10
56
62
83

Total

$

281

$

292
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10.

Tangible capital assets (continued):
(b) For the year ended March 31, 2011:
Balance at
April 1,
2010

Cost

Additions

Balance at
March 31,
2011

Disposals

Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Tradeshow booths

$

593
128
330
215
1,872

$

31
6
11
-

$

(55)
(26)
(3)
(1,138)

$

569
108
338
215
734

Total

$

3,138

$

48

$

(1,222)

$

1,964

Balance at
April 1,
2010

Accumulated
amortization

Balance at
March 31,
2011

Amortization
expense

Disposals

Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Tradeshow booths

$

478
126
244
122
1688

$

(55)
(26)
(3)
(1,138)

$

58
3
29
34
123

$

481
103
270
156
673

Total

$

2,658

$

(1,222)

$

247

$

1,683

Net book value
April 1, 2010

Net book value
March 31, 2011

Computer equipment
Computer software
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Tradeshow booths

$

115
2
86
93
184

$

87
5
68
59
62

Total

$

480

$

281

(c) Assets under construction:
There were no tangible capital assets under construction or development as at March 31,
2012, March 31, 2011, and April 1, 2010.
(d) Contributed tangible capital assets:
There were no tangible capital assets received as contributions during the years ended
March 31, 2012 and 2011.
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10.

Tangible capital assets (continued):
(e) Tangible capital assets disclosed at nominal values:
Cost includes the fair market value of certain assets transferred to the Company from the
Province effective April 1, 2003, for one dollar. These assets are now fully amortized.
(f) Write-down of tangible capital assets:
The write-down of tangible capital assets during the year was nil (2011  nil).

11.

Accumulated surplus:

Share capital (a)
Other (b)

March 31,
2012

March 31,
2011

April 1,
2010

$

1,170

$

1,150

$

1,064

$

1,170

$

1,150

$

1,064

(a) The Company has authorized capital of 100 common shares without par value of which 10
shares are issued and outstanding. The Minister of Jobs Tourism and Innovation holds the
shares issued as the designated representative of Her Majesty the Queen in right of the
Province.
(b) Other accumulated surplus of $1,170 (March 31, 2011 - $1,150, April 1, 2010 - $1,064)
represents funds received from the Government of Canada, in excess of expenditures
incurred of $750 (March 31, 2011 - $741, April 1, 2010 - $456), and funds received from the
Province that were spent on tangible capital assets of $292 (March 31, 2011 - $281, April 1,
2010 - $480) and advance deposits of $128 (March 31, 2011 - $128, April 1, 2010 - $128).
              
received from sources outside of the Province into future periods.

  

57

Forestry Innovation Investment

  

60  

12.

Commitments:
(a) The Company has lease commitments for its premises it occupies.

2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
Thereafter

$

793
453
-

$

1,246

(b) The Company also has an obligation to pay $645 (2011 - $1,073) for contracts entered into,
and not yet completed at March 31, 2012.
13.

Wenchuan Reconstruction Projects:
In June of 2008, British Columbia (B.C.) Premier Gordon Campbell and the Honourable Gary
Lunn, Canadian Minister of Natural Resources, announced a $8,000 donation to provide wood        
The initiative was a collaborative effort between the Government of Canada and the Province.
The Province provided $5,000 and the Government of Canada contributed $3,000. This
involved constructing permanent wood-                 
and a rehabilitation centre for physically disabled. All were built of Canadian structural lumber
and used modern wood frame construction technology.
The reconstruction projects were being managed by the Company and delivered through FII
Shanghai. The latter was responsible for negotiating the terms of each project and managing it
to completion. Canada Wood Group China, was providing on-the-ground quality assurance.
The initiative was expected to continue over three years with final completion targeted now for
early fiscal 2013.
The Company received/incurred the following funding and costs related to this initiative as
follows:
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13.

Wenchuan Reconstruction Projects (continued):
2012
Funding from the Province
Funding from the Government of Canada
Funding from Beichuan Municipal County, China
Project costs

14.

2011

$

284
(880)

$

$

(596)

$

3,300
1,140
332
(4,690)
82

China Wood Frame Demonstration Projects:
In fiscal 2010, the Company and the Government of Canada, through the Minister of Natural
Resources, entered into an agreement where Natural Resources Canada contributed $3,300
for wood frame demonstration projects in China. A further $2,600 contribution was made in
fiscal 2011 towards these initiatives.
The projects are a collaborative effort to illustrate a wide range of building applications using
wood. These include wood frame elements such as wood truss roofs, interior partition walls,
and exterior infill walls in multi-storey, multi-family housing. Projects will demonstrate the merits
of wood-frame building and related technology, and the quality of Canadian/ B.C. wood
products, and will advance the acceptance of structural wood building systems in China.
The demonstration projects are being managed by the Company and delivered through FII
Shanghai. As with most demonstration projects, FII Shanghai is responsible for negotiating the
terms of each project and managing it to completion. Canada Wood Group China is providing
on-the-ground quality assurance expertise.
The Company received/incurred the following funding and costs related to this initiative as
follows:
2012
Funding from the Government of Canada
Canada Wood Group
Forest Products Association of Canada
Project costs
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2011

$

762
(1,015)

$

2,562
75
(2,761)

$

(253)

$

(124)
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15.

Segmented information:
Segmented information has been identified based upon programs provided by the Company.
Company programs and their activities are reported by functional area in the body of the
financial statements. Programs that have been separately disclosed in the segmented
information, along with the services they provide, are as follows:
(a) Funding Recipient Initiatives
                       
the Government of Canada to fund forest industry associations and research institutions,
to:



maintain and create opportunities for B.C. wood products in existing and
emerging markets;



ensure that customers, consumers, designers, builders, developers and
architects know about B.C. wood products and the many positive features they
bring to wood-frame construction and interior finishing;



support the development of innovative new forest products; and



provide interested parties around the world with information on the properties and
qua          

(b) Market Initiatives and Outreach Program
i.) FII Vancouver
Internally direct delivered programs that:



identify potential opportunities for B.C. forest products through market research
and develop market access strategies;



ensure B.C. forest products have access to markets free from regulatory and
other barriers through initiatives and research; and



provide customers and foreign regulators with facts about the environmental
merits of B.C. forest products, including the sustainable forest management
regime that underlies their production.

Environmental campaigns that promote misleading or incorrect information are quickly
challenged by the Company and its partners. They also monitor development of draft
legislation and procurement policies in other jurisdictions, and intervene if necessary to
obviate or minimize measures that would impair the flow of B.C. forest products into a
particular market. They do this in part by making relevant officials aware of frequently
unintended consequences if draft legislation or policy is adopted.

  

  

63  

Service Plan Annual Report 2011 | 2012 June 2012

60

15.

Segmented information (continued):
ii.) FII China
China market initiatives and outreach perform the following activities:



Liaise with Chinese government agencies at the district, municipal, provincial and
national levels to understand their needs and aspirations, and determine how
they can be met by the B.C. forest industry;



Broker relationships between Chinese officials and the Canadian private sector;
and



Inform the programs delivered by Canadian forest industry trade associations in
China.

(c) Corporate Services:
Corporate services perform the following activities:
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Ensure financial reporting to government standards;



Provide Human Resource, IT and office services to meet organizational needs;



Oversee budget and planning controls in alignment with strategic objectives; and



Provide corporate communication and analytical services to meet internal and
external needs.
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15.

Segmented information (continued):

Segmented information (continued):

ii.) FII China

2012

Market initiatives
initiatives
China market initiatives and outreach perform
the following Market
activities:
Funding recipient



and outreach  FII

and outreach  FII
Total

initiatives
China
Vancouver
Corporate services
Liaise with Chinese government
agencies
at the district,
municipal,
provincial and
Revenues:
national
levels
to
understand
their
needs
and
aspirations,
and
determine
how
Government contributions  Provincial
$
8,203 $
3,633 $
7,271 $
1,413 $
they Federal
can be met by the B.C. forest
industry; 117
Government contributions
Government contributions  Other
Other revenue



Investment income
Total revenues
Expenses:



Amortization
Auditing

-

284

-

117

-

284

Broker relationships between Chinese
officials
private sector;
762 and the Canadian
38
and

762
38

8,203

4,796

7,271

1,451

21,721

75

34

-

87

196

-

-

2,627

-

2,627

-

769

188

176

1,133

329

1,696

322

2,477

2,292

1,564

-

11,564

1,004

619

3,046

21

-

Inform the programs delivered by Canadian forest industry trade associations in
43
150
China.

Grants

(c)
Corporate Services:
Office costs
Professional services

130
Corporate services perform the following
activities:

Program costs

7,708



290
1,133
Ensure financial reporting to government
standards;



196
171
77
Provide Human Resource, IT and
office services
to meet organizational
needs;



Oversee budget and
planning controls
in alignment
with strategic
$
- $
- $
- $ objectives;
20 and
$



Provide corporate communication and analytical services to meet internal and
external needs.

Salaries wages and benefits
Trade missions

20,520

-

-

193

21

Travel and business costs
Total expenses:

8,203

4,796

7,271

444

1,431

21,701

Annual surplus (deficit)
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15.

15.

Segmented information (continued):

Segmented information (continued):

ii.) FII China

2011

Market initiatives
initiatives
China market initiatives and outreach perform
the followingMarket
activities:
Funding recipient



and outreach  FII

and outreach  FII

Corporate

initiatives
China at the district,
Vancouver
Liaise with Chinese government
agencies
municipal,services
provincial and
Revenues:
national levels to understand their needs and aspirations, and determine how
Government contributions  Provincial
$
9,574 $
6,531 $
4,893 $
998 $
they can be met by the B.C. forest industry;
Government contributions  Federal



-

3,702

-

Total
21,996

-

3,702

Government contributions  Other
Other revenue

Investment income
Total revenues
Expenses:



Amortization

332
Broker relationships between -Chinese officials
and the Canadian
private sector;
75
and
27

332

9,574
10,640
4,893
1,025
Inform the programs delivered
by Canadian
forest industry
trade associations
in
China.

26,132

Auditing

(c)
Corporate Services:
Grants
Office costs

-

46

-

201

22

-

61

203

-

-

1,952

-

1,952

-

Corporate services perform the following
activities:
149



Total expenses:



353

(16)

17,165

941

536

2,945

1,178

-

192

$

- $

118

362 $

18

73

- $

383
26,046

(276) $

86

Provide corporate communication and analytical services to meet internal and
external needs.
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1,080
2,053

Oversee budget and planning
alignment with strategic
objectives;
9,574controls in 10,278
4,893
1,301 and

Annual surplus (deficit)

63

179
267

18
Provide Human Resource, IT and
office services
to meet organizational
needs;

Travel and business costs

  

171
1,340



Trade missions

  

730

9,015
7,813
Ensure financial reporting to
government standards;
290

247

297



Salaries wages and benefits

27

120

Professional services
Program costs

75
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Contact Us
Further information on Forestry Innovation Investment is available at www.bcfii.ca. A Report to Stakeholders published in
October 2011 highlights accomplishments in major markets around the world. FII’s current Service Plan, as well as previous
Service Plans and Annual Reports are available at http://www.bcfii.ca/about_fii/corporate_reports.htm.
Comprehensive information about B.C.’s sustainable forest management practices and products is available at
www.naturallywood.com, with links to many forest-product companies and trade associations.
Information on FII operations in China is available at www.bcfii.cn/.
Details on the Canada-B.C. Wenchuan Earthquake Reconstruction Project may be found at
www.canada-bc-512quakereconstruction.org/.
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www.bcfii.ca

